ABSTRACT

Thesis title: ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR-LIKE 3.7 UNDERLIES ROOT MORPHOLOGY AND SIGNALING VIA MEMBRANE POTENTIAL HOMEOSTASIS

> Juan Camilo Barbosa-Caro Master of Science, 2021

Thesis directed by:

Professor José A. Feijó Department of Cell Biology and Molecular Genetics

Plants perceive highly variable environments and biotic interactions through membrane receptors like the GLutamate Receptor-like (GLR) family, related to the ionotropic Glutamate Receptors that underlie information transmission in neurons. GLRs underpin information transduction and morphological adaptations in plants. However, mechanistic understanding is scarce.

In *Arabidopsis thaliana* roots, we investigated how GLRs underlie amino acid-induced electric and Ca²⁺ excitability. We also assessed the contribution of GLR3.7 in root hair elongation. We present GLRs as mediators of a local, glutamate-induced electric and Ca²⁺ response in roots, with the same initiation kinetics of wound-induced Slow Wave Potentials (SWP). We identify GLR3.7 as mediator of root hair elongation through maintenance of membrane depolarization at the growing cell apex.

These results propose a parallel between glutamate-triggered signals and SWP initial phase as local and chemically induced, and posit GLR3.7 as a possible contributor to Ca^{2+} homeostasis in root hair apical growth.

ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR-LIKE 3.7 UNDERLIES ROOT HAIR ELONGATION AND ROOT ELECTRIC SIGNALING VIA LIGAND-DEPENDENT CALCIUM AND MEMBRANE POTENTIAL HOMEOSTASIS.

By:

Juan Camilo Barbosa-Caro

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science 2021

Advisory committee:

Professor José A. Feijó. Chair Professor Ricardo C. Araneda Professor Angus S. Murphy

Dedication

То

Alejandrina Santibáñez

y todos con los que volveré a compartir mesa.

Acknowledgments

I am thankful to all my lab mates and mentors for their patience, wise words, and support during this project.

> Erwan Michard Michael Lizzio Custódio de Oliveira Alexander Simon José A. Feijó Zakiya Whatley Charles Delwiche

Table of contents

Table of Contents

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of contents	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Glutamate Receptor-Like Channels	2
GLR Structure & Electrophysiology	6
Origins of plant electrophysiology	12
Electric signaling, GLRs, and physiological functions	16
GLR functions in roots	18
Overlap between GLR signaling and root hair development	22
Chapter 2: GLRs mediate Glutamate-triggered local electric and Ca^{2+} trans	ients
resembling initial phase of SWP.	26
Introduction	26
Electric signals in plants	
Molecular mechanisms underlying electric signals in plants	29
Genetic identity of electric signal mediators	
Propagation mechanisms of electric signals	
Ligand excitability in roots	
Results	
L-glutamate (Glu) initiates a local transient signal	
CNIH4 optimize GLR-mediated electric response	
Discussion	40
Signal diffusion on root surface	
The role of GLR conductance in SWP	
Methods	55
Plant material	
Root cell impalement	
Microscopy and Ca2+ imaging	
Data processing and analysis	57
Chapter 3: GLR3.7 mediates root hair elongation by maintenance of apical	
depolarization	58
Introduction	58
Trichoblast differentiation	

Root hair initiation	61
Root hair elongation	
Results	67
GLR3.7 and Glu induce root hair elongation	67
Specific functions of GLR3.7 and Ethylene/EIN2 in root hair elongation	71
Discussion	77
GLR3.7 drives root hair elongation through membrane voltage	
EIN2 is regulated by GLR3.7 action to potentiate root hair elongation	
Methods	83
Plant material	
Membrane potential measurements	
Amino acid stimulation	85
Root hair imaging	85
Membrane voltage imaging	
Image analysis	
General conclusions	87
Bibliography	91

Chapter 1: Introduction

Plants are capable of sensing their environment and accordingly respond with morphological and physiological adaptations. Perception of chemical signals is important for roots to sense the aqueous environment in the soil. But it is also essential for cell-to-cell communication through signaling molecules. Such signals can be detected by membrane receptors that induce an intracellular change in secondary messenger, like calcium (Ca²⁺) (Feijó and Wudick, 2018). Plant genomes encode a family of GLutamate Receptor-like (GLR) channels, evolutionarily related to the ionotropic Glutamate Receptors (iGluR) in mammalian neurons, that seem to be essential in that step from chemical perception to intracellular Ca²⁺ increase (Fromm and Lautner, 2007).

This research uses roots of the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* to achieve two aims: contribute to the dissection the GLR-mediated ligand-gated electric response. And, given the that root hairs are the only other type of apical growing cell in a plant besides pollen tubes (Michard et al., 2011), determine the role of GLRs in root hair growth.

Glutamate Receptor-Like Channels

The genome of the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana encodes cDNA genes with the signature domains of the mammalian iGluR. These essential domains, tightly relate to the channel function; comprise three transmembrane domains and a Ligand Binding domain (LBD) (Green et al., 2021; Lam et al., 1998). This initial discovery was the first of a family of plant genes, the GLRs, that has a similar sequence to others found in different taxa along the evolutionary tree, form prokaryotes and primitive protist organisms to higher plants (Price et al., 2012, Wudick et al., 2018b). Particularly, the GLR family sequence seems to have an origin in the prokaryote potassium channels (Kuner et al., 2003). Individual species of algae encode one or two GLRs, but sequence variation is significant between taxa. Contrastingly, among seed plants the diversity is low but each taxon presents multiple homologue GLR genes. Their counts range from 9 in the evolutionarily primitive genus Gingko, to 38 in the higher plant genus *Brassica*; in between *Arabidopsis* is catalogued with 20 genes, divided in 3 clades (Bortoli et al., 2016).

While the close relation of GLR family to mammal iGluRs was deducted from sequence similarity analysis, a phylogenetic analysis, including bacterial glutamate receptors as reference outgroup, divided the family in three clades, and determined that plant and animal iGluRs diverged from a common ancestor (Chiu et al., 1999; Price et al., 2012) (figure 1.1). The separation of





these different genes seem to have happened very early in the evolution of cellular life, apparently, even as early as the separation of the Last Universal Common Ancestor (LUCA) (Price et al., 2012).

The GLR family phylogeny is well stablished. Among all the sequences, the putative, biophysically important segments of the channel, that determine ligand affinity and ionic selectivity, have short but potentially important variations. In *Arabidopsis*, clade 3 is the most ancient and more broadly expressed in *Arabidopsis*, while clades 1 and 2 are the most recent to evolve. Between the latter, the clade 2 is the most recent one and is the result of duplication events of clade 1. And although gene expression analysis suggests that all clades were expressed in the whole plant in *Arabidopsis*, now it is known that the clade 2 genes are restricted only to specific cell types, and presumably their functions in the rest of the plant are performed by other clades (Chiu et al., 2002; Price et al., 2012; Weiland et al., 2016).

The radiation of different clades, and the increase of numbers of copies in plant genomes occurred in parallel to land colonization (Bortoli et al., 2016), therefore it is thought that the variety of GLRs present today in vascular plants is a cornerstone of adaptation to dry land survival. Accordingly, GLRs have been related to stress related physiological traits such as stress hormones

Abscisic acid (ABA) biosynthesis and signaling (Kang et al., 2004; Kong et al., 2015), metabolic response to drought (Kang et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2014), innate immune response (Kang et al., 2004; Kwaaitaal et al., 2011; Li et al., 2013; Manzoor et al., 2013), stomatal closure (Cho et al., 2009), and woundinduced electric signaling (Mousavi et al., 2013) including response to aphid puncture into the phloem (Vincent et al., 2017). Also, the control of morphological characteristics and physiological processes native to land plants is related to GLR activity, e.g. primary root growth and secondary root initiation (Singh et al., 2016; Vincill et al., 2013), pollen tube apical growth (Michard et al., 2011; Wudick et al., 2018a), and flower-pollen selfincompatibility (Iwano et al., 2015). In moss, a early land plant, GLRs have been related to sperm chemotaxis, phase alternation in the life cycle (Ortiz-Ramírez et al., 2017), and tolerance to light deprivation (Simon et al., under review)

Focusing on *Arabidopsis* as the vascular plant model, the expression patterns of the three clades are different throughout the plant and its developmental stages. And the channels can function in different endomembranes besides the plasma membrane (Chiu et al., 2002; Lam et al., 1998; Teardo et al., 2011; Wudick et al. 2018a). Despite the multiplicity of channels and their differential expression, the efforts to characterize their function have mainly focused on the clade 3, for its ubiquity and abundance (Hedrich et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2001).

GLR Structure & Electrophysiology

In order to molecularly understand the mechanism by which GLRs are involved in the mentioned traits, it is fundamental to determine their channel characteristics. For this, elucidation of their electrophysiological and structural attributes has been a main focus.

GLRs similarity with ionotropic ligand-gated channels, postulates them as candidates for driving an electrochemical response to amino acids. This type of effect was early observed, but it was not clear if it was a by-product phenomenon of amino acid cotransporters or if it is a signal in itself (Dennison and Spalding, 2000; Etherton and Rubinstein, 1978). However, direct electrophysiological measurements of intracellular electric potential made evident a Glu-dependent depolarization, separated from amino acid-ion cotransporters, and mediated by GLRs (Demidchik et al., 2004; Qi et al., 2006). Further characterization of GLR involvement in amino acid-dependent depolarization in roots proved that a variety of ligands can trigger a GLR-dependent response. Asparagine, glycine, cysteine, serine and alanine were screened along with glutamate (Stephens et al., 2008). All evoked depolarization in root cells, being glutamate the one with a lowest half maximum concentration but not the highest maximum response (Stephens et al., 2008). This low specificity of GLR3.3 to amino acids, and the variety of responses depending on the ligand, is not the same as in mammalian iGluRs, which have a higher ligand specificity (Hollmann et al., 1989; Traynelis et al., 2010).

Similar to iGluRs, GLRs can form homo- or heterotetramers as their functional quaternary structure in the membrane (Price and Okumoto, 2013; Green et al., 2021; Simon et al., under review). If the modulation of ligand affinity by heterotetrameric composition observed in iGluRs is effective in GLRs, and given their variable ligand specificity, then the different possible combinations of GLR tetramers and ligand affinity will result in an broader sensitivity than that of iGluRs (Alfieri et al., 2020; Yao et al., 2008). To understand how GLRs can bind several amino acids, and then, how this can change in heterotetramers, it is important to dilucidate the physical interactions for the ligands with the protein structure. The general structure of eukaryotic glutamate receptors consists of tetrameric conformation in a "Y" shaped transmembrane protein. It has three distinctive layers: an amino-terminal domain (ATD), a ligand-binding domain (LBD), and a transmembrane domain (TMD) (figure 1.2).

The full-length structure of the *Arabidopsis* GLR3.4 is the first one dilucidated in the family. It has elements of all subtypes of iGluR, and provides valuable insights of the gating and permeation mechanism (Sobolevsky et al., 2009; Green et al., 2021).

The ATD fractions also allow interaction between the monomers, aid channel assembling and provide tetrameric stability. The structure of the ATD resembles a clamshell that can open or close when interacting with a ligand. In the AMPA and kainate type receptors it has not been found to functionally bind to any ligand, maintaining a closed clamshell structure (Jin et al., 2009). The ATD of the GLR3.4 seems to be capable of binding peptides, however the data is yet not conclusive (figure 1.2-A) (Green et al., 2021), a ligand that



mediates GLR-dependent electric excitability (Qi et al., 2006), and activation of immune response genes (Li et al., 2013). In GLR3.4 the ATD is connected to the layer beneath, the LBD, through a network of electrostatic and hydrophobic interaction that transfer conformational changes. Such changes can be induced by ligand binding in the ATD (Green et al., 2021).

Another form of channel structural regulation relies on the LBD, which is closer to the TMD that conforms the permeating pore. In iGluRs the LBD typically mediates the conformational changes that open the channel. In the case of *Arabidopsis* GLRs, the LBD of GLR3.4, GLR3.3, and GLR3.2 have been isolated and determined to have a clamshell architecture structurally similar to that of iGluRs, that structurally change upon ligand binding (Alfieri et al., 2020; Gangwar et al., 2020). It was also observed that the LBD pocket of GLRs can bind to a variety of amino acids, unlike that of iGluRs, by having certain conserved binding sites and, when needed, filling the space of the amino acid side chain with water molecules or sodium (Na⁺) ions (Gangwar et al., 2020; Green et al., 2021).

The TMD section conforms the ion channel that determines the selectivity and the conductance. The GLR3.4 channel is formed by a set of residues that differ from that of iGluRs, indicating different permeability properties (Green et al., under review). This was confirmed using a patch clamp experimental setup that demonstrated permeability of anions, as well as cations, conferred by heterologous expression of the moss *Physcomitrium patens* GLR1, and *Arabidopsis* GLR3.4 and GLR3.2 (Simon et al., under review). From this type of experiments it was also determined that moss GLR1 and a set of clade 3 *Arabidopsis* GLRs have a basal open conductance even in the absence of a ligand (Ortiz-Ramírez et al., 2017; Wudick et al., 2018b).

Present functional and electrophysiological evidence converge to demonstrate that the mechanism of ligand binding is conserved, but the channels permeability is drastically divergent in mammalian iGluRs and plant GLRs (Alfieri et al., 2020; Gangwar et al., 2020; Simon et al, under review; Green et al., 2021). This raises the question, why did GLRs evolve a different permeability? The derived trait could be an adaptation for maintaining a depolarizing role in cells where Na⁺ influx is toxic (Wudick et al., 2018b), but the ample variability of GLRs and their tetrameric combinations could configure their ligand and permeation specificities for many other functions.

For this reason, and despite the novel partial anionic selectivity presented above, GLRs have traditionally been identified as Ca²⁺ permeable channels. For example, the application of amino acids to root cells might initiate a GLR3.3 dependent depolarization that could be abolished by Ca²⁺ channels specific antagonists (Davenport, 2002; Dennison and Spalding, 2000; Qi et al., 2006). Like this, there is broad evidence that links GLRs with electric signaling, a conserved manner of interacting with the environment, transverse to multiple evolutionary distant clades, and coordinated by ionic channels (Volkov, 2006). Thus, electric signaling in plants is essential for the study of GLR function.

Origins of plant electrophysiology

To understand the pivotal differences between plant and animal electrophysiology, why the latter is more developed, and how the particularities of bioelectricity in plants has been a barrier for understanding the underlying channel function, it is necessary to see a parallel of the electrophysiology's milestones in both natural kingdoms.

The concept of electricity as information carrier in biological systems was prominently documented in 1791 when the Italian physicist Luigi Galvani prepared an isolated frog leg that contracted upon contact with different types of metals (Galvani, 1791 cited from (Piccolino, 1997)). These observations, not only triggered the field for the development of electrical batteries, but also led to the creation of electrophysiology as a study field (Piccolino, 1997; Stahlberg, 2006 in (Volkov, 2006)).

Galvani performed public experiments and published his observations, nonetheless the governance of electricity over living tissues was accepted by the European scientific community only in 1844, when Carlo Matteucci took over and clearly demonstrated that living tissues can generate electricity autonomously. The Italian physicist generated a circuit of frog legs connected in series, showing that their currents can be summed as if they were batteries (Verkhratsky and Parpura, 2014 in (Martina and Taverna, 2014)).

Once bioelectricity settled in the scientific community, proper description of the phenomenon, and its observation in diverse living forms flourished. The first electric transients, now called Action Potentials, were recorded in carnivorous plants leaves and frog leg muscles using extracellular (contact) electrodes.

The first extracellular recording of a muscular action potential (AP) was recorded by Emil du Bois-Reymond, a signal he called "a negative fluctuation". Shortly after, and promoted by Darwin's idea that the carnivorous plant *Dionea muscipula* presents animal-like reflexes, extracellular electric potential waves in the closing leaves were recorded using the galvanometer developed by Galvani and Matteucci (Burdon and Sanderson, M, 1873; Darwin, 1875; Verkhratsky and Parpura, 2014 in (Martina and Taverna, 2014)).

By the same time, in 1871, the first intracellular recording was attempted in severed nerves by Julius Bernstein (Nilius, 2003). But this type of recording became accessible only with the implementation of glass pipettes as electrodes that could measure the intracellular potential with minimum harm to the cell.



Figure 1.3. Traces of intracellular recording of AP in (A) the algae *Nitella*, and (B) *Loligo* squid giant axon, the trace with a bigger amplitude represents the membrane potential and the other represents the membrane conductance. Adapted from (Cole and Curtis, 1938, 1939)

Intracellular membrane potential recordings were first accomplished in the big

internodal cells of algae of the genus Nitella, showing a resting membrane

potential around -100mV and transient electric responses upon electric stimulation (Umrath, 1930). Shortly after, Hodgking and Huxley accomplished the recording of an AP in the nerve of the squid *Loligo forbesi*, and corroborated Bernstein's original observation of an animal cell resting membrane potential around -60 mV (Hodgkin and Huxley, 1939). Then, Cole and Curtis showed the mechanistic similarities between AP in axons and algae cells (figure 1.3) (Cole and Curtis, 1938, 1939)

From this point the study of electrophysiology in plant cells diverged from animal cells, arguably because, while specialized cells for electric transmission, nerves, were identified in animals (Young, 1936), plants lack cells with this characteristic and electric signals propagate mainly in the vascular tissue, which is hardly as accessible as a squid axon (Bose, 1926). Also, the interconnectivity of plant cell through plasmodesmata, electrically considered a low resistance leak, demands a different, more complex approach for clamping the voltage of a single cell.

Comprehension of electric transmission in plants has proven to be more complex than the inaccessibility of the vascular tissue. Electric signals can take different shapes, fast depolarizations and repolarizations or long-lasting depolarizations. And their propagation mechanism can be attributable to a synergy of various physical phenomena: electric propagation, molecular diffusion, and water pressure waves (Farmer et al., 2020; Hedrich et al., 2016).

Electric signaling, GLRs, and physiological functions

Despite the intricated and not fully understood propagation mechanism of electric signals, their generation has been linked to a multiplicity of stimuli, and their effect to a series of physiological responses. Leaf cells depolarize upon light exposure, and can elicit APs when crossing a threshold (Fromm and Lautner, 2007; Kreslavski et al., 2009); in Arabidopsis, light induced electric signals can travel along the plant and alter photosynthetic metabolism (Szechyńska-Hebda et al., 2010, 2017); rehydration of the dry soil that hosts grape and avocado plants evokes propagating depolarizations throughout the root and shoot (Gil et al., 2008, 2014) and intake of amino acids into cells causes depolarization (Etherton and Rubinstein, 1978); also pressure change in the root system of pea plants can initiate a propagating electric signals (Stahlberg and Cosgrove, 1997); the style of lily flowers generates a propagating electric signal upon contact of pollen grain, and regulates compatibility to avoid self-crossing (Spanjers, A, 1977; Spanjers, 1981).

Lastly, tissue wounding elicits a propagating depolarization that is widespread in the plant kingdom (Farmer et al., 2020; Fromm and Lautner, 2007; Rhodes et al., 1999). This type of electric signal is well understood and progress has been done at identifying the channels implicated. Of particular interest, it is initiated by GLRs of the clade 3, and generates a defense response in far-away tissues, which activates genes associated with the jasmonates and ethylene pathways, use by the plant as a response to stress (Acosta and Farmer, 2010; Marhavý et al., 2019; Mousavi et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2018; Tran et al., 2018).

The type of electric signal initiated by tissue wounding is called Slow Wave Potential (SWP) (Fromm and Lautner, 2007), and has initially reported in *Mimosa* (Houwink, 1935), and then also identified in bean, tomato (Roblin, 1985), sunflowers, cucumbers (Stahlberg and Cosgrove, 1996, 1997; Stanković et al., 1997), wheat (Vodeneev et al., 2012) and *Arabidopsis* (Mousavi et al., 2013).

Arabidopsis plants lacking expression of either *GLR3.1, 3.2, 3.3* or *3.6* have an attenuated SWP, and in the double mutant *glr3.3-6* there is no electric signal initiated by wounding, nor the cytosolic Ca^{2+} increase associated with

it (Mousavi et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2018). Besides this, and in accordance with structural data previously presented, stimulation of roots with Glu, GSH, and other amino acids elicits membrane depolarization and Ca²⁺ increase. A response that is diminished in *glr3.3* plants (Alfieri et al., 2020; Demidchik et al., 2004; Qi et al., 2006). It is possible that GLRs mediate a SWP in plant tissues but do not comprise all the conductances implicated in the depolarization phase (Farmer et al., 2020). Disentangling the precise role of GLRs in SWPs is a challenging task because of the multicellular nature of the signal, and the technically difficult task of clamping the voltage of an interconnected network of cells for current isolation. Thus, the relatively simpler, cable-like geometry of roots, along with other reasons presented next, posit them as an advantageous organ on which to understand the role of GLRs in signaling.

GLR functions in roots

Root cells protoplast are electrically excitable, permeate Ca^{2+} and Na^{+} triggered by Glu in a dose-dependent manner. These current convey a transient depolarization that can be abolished by the application of non-selective cation channel blocker, like La^{3+} and Gd^{3+} , these currents were

indirectly attributed to GLR3.3 via a reverse genetics approach (Demidchik et al., 2004; Dennison and Spalding, 2000; Qi et al., 2006).

The implication of GLRs in wound response and Ca²⁺ signaling spans to other plant species. In tomato roots a long-distance electric signal has also been reported in response to nematode infestation. This signal, abolished in *Slglr3.5* plants, travels in parallel with a wave of increasing Reactive Oxidative Species (ROS), and lastly initiates the jasmonate pathway as a defense response (Wang et al., 2019). The initiation of electric and Ca²⁺ transients is, however, not the only effect Glu has on roots, nor the only function of GLRs. In *Arabidopsis*, roots are the only organ that express all the 20 GLRs of the genome (figure 1.4) (Chiu et al., 2002; Turano et al., 2002), which suggests their implication in multiple signaling pathways and physiological responses.

Root elongation occurs by mitotic activity of the meristem at the root tip. The regulation of this process provides the root the ability of directing the growth and regulating the elongation pace. Application of exogenous Glu decreases the elongation speed of roots by decreasing the mitotic activity at the primary root tip (Skobeleva et al., 2011; Walch-Liu et al., 2006). GLR3.6 is strongly localized at the root tip, particularly in the cells that comprise the apical



Figure 1.4. Expression pattern of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* GLR members in (a) leaves and (b) roots. Modified from Chiu et al., 2002

meristem and, at the mature zone of the root, in the vascular bundle only. Interestingly, in *glr3.6* mutant plants the growth rate is decreased in comparison to the wild type. This was related to upregulation of a cell cycling inhibitor, decreased mitotic rate and apical meristem size, and diminished endogenous auxin production (Singh et al., 2016).

The apparent contradiction of exogenous Glu application and GLR3.6 knockout having the same effect demonstrates the complexity of cell signaling related to GLRs, and requires further investigation.

Additionally, as the root tip grows the mature region starts generating primordia from which lateral roots are formed. The signal that initiates the differentiation of primordia is related mainly to auxin, but exogenous Glu application can also regulate it, by increasing the density of lateral roots (Walch-Liu et al., 2006), and decreased in the *glr3.6* mutant (Singh et al., 2016). In contrast, *glr3.2* and *glr3.4* mutants have an increased lateral root density (Vincill et al., 2013). While *glr3.3* presented no change in the amount of lateral root primordia, it did display a more unstable gravitropic response (Miller et al., 2010; Vincill et al., 2013)

Roots present a specialized cell type, called trichoblasts, that differentiate from epidermal cells and form root hairs (reviewed in (Grierson et al., 2014)). The differentiation of trichoblasts is regulated by ethylene, a gaseous metabolized from the molecule non-proteogenic amino acid 1aminocyclopropane 1-carboxilic acid (ACC) (Tanimoto et al., 1995). The elongation of trichoblasts to form root hairs is tightly regulated by Ca^{2+} increase at the growing tip (Wymer et al., 1997). We hypothesize that GLRs are implicated in this process since GLR1.2 and GLR3.7 are related with tip elongation of pollen tubes in Arabidopsis (Mendrinna and Persson, 2015; Michard et al., 2011).

Overlap between GLR signaling and root hair development

Root hairs form from trichoblasts, specialized epidermal cells that differentiate in a tightly controlled pattern. Only the epidermal cells that are in contact with two cells in the inner layer become trichoblasts, but application of exogenous ACC induces differentiation of cells that do not comply with this condition (Dolan, 2001; Tanimoto et al., 1995). The induction of differentiation and elongation by ethylene is mediated by the ethylene pathway member protein Ethylene Insensitive 2 (EIN2) (Martín-Rejano et al., 2011).

Apical growth is a specific process of cell development in which elongation occurs only at the cell apex, and is highly conserved in pollen tubes and root hairs (Campanoni and Blatt, 2007; Candeo et al., 2017; Feijó et al., 2004). Both cell types develop an apical Ca^{2+} increase that drives elongation (Schiefelbein et al., 1992; Vissenberg et al., 2001; Wymer et al., 1997). In *glr1.2* and *glr3.7* the homeostasis of Ca^{2+} at the growing tip is altered, thus elongation rate is diminished (Michard et al., 2011).

Furthermore, apical elongation of root hairs happens in an oscillatory pattern that is tightly correlated to intracellular Ca^{2+} oscillations that stops when the

cell reaches its final length (figure 1.5) (Candeo et al., 2017; Wymer et al., 1997). Although it is hypothesized by Mendrinna and Persson (2015), there is no evidence that GLRs are implicated in the Ca^{2+} homeostasis in elongating root hairs.



Figure 1.5. Intracellular Ca²⁺ imaging in *Arabidopsis* root hairs expressing the fluorescent reporter YC3.6. A – Root hairs present higher Ca2+ concentration at the tip, and disappears when the cell stops growing. B – oscillatory pattern of cytosolic Ca2+ during root hair elongation. Modified from Candeo et al., 2017

There is available evidence that shows the multiple roles of Ca^{2+} in apical elongation, and give base to the hypothesis that GLRs have regulate Ca^{2+} homeostasis at the tip of growing root hairs. The ethylene precursor ACC activates depolarization and Ca^{2+} influx in protoplasted root epidermal cells. This occurs by activation of various GLRs, mainly GLR3.6 and GLR3.3, and in a decreased magnitude GLR3.1 and GLR3.2 (Mou et al., 2020). Complementary, single cell wounding in roots induces Ca^{2+} increase and ethylene production (Marhavý et al., 2019). Moreover, GLRs mediate Ca^{2+} and electric transients in roots in response to amino acids (Qi et al., 2006) and wounding (Shao et al., 2020).

Additionally, intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and membrane depolarization are also correlated with cytoskeleton stability during cell expansion. In the case of the moss *Physcomitrium patens*, apical growth also presents Ca²⁺ oscillations that correlate to growth. Actin filaments disassembly is induced during high Ca²⁺ concentration, and assembly during decreased concentration (Bascom et al., 2018; Bezanilla and Perroud, 2018). In root hairs, a turnover of actin filaments at the cell tip has also been reported (Ketelaar, 2013). Also microtubules are essential for sustaining proper apical growth (Bibikova et al., 1999), and their integrity can be altered by exogenous Glu application through depolarization and Ca^{2+} increase (Sivaguru et al., 2003).

Altogether, this presents the possibility of a feedback between Ca^{2+} , ethylene and amino acids, that is based on GLR activity, and underlies the signal that promotes the subcellular processes that compose root hair elongation and electric response. This research aims to determine the function of GLRs in electric and Ca^{2+} signals that are transverse to wounding response and root hair elongation. We hypothesize that the electric and Ca^{2+} responses of root cells to Glu are not self-propagating, and might correspond to part of the signal triggered by wounding. Also, root hair apical growth is mediated by strongly gated GLRs like GLR3.7.

Chapter 2: GLRs mediate Glutamate-triggered local electric and Ca²⁺ transients resembling initial phase of SWP.

Introduction

Electric signals in plants

Electric signals in biological systems occur as transitory changes in the cell membrane potential. This is mediated by a flow of ions that carry an electric current. Ionic flow can be mediated by (1) a group of functionally interconnected membrane channels that drive depolarization and repolarization or (2) leakage product of membrane perturbation, like in the cases of wounding. In many cases electric signals culminate in a free cytosolic calcium (Ca^{2+}) concentration increase that conveys other signaling input for the rest of the system. Information transmission in animal nerves is encoded in such electric signals, which can spatially self-propagate due to the electrical excitability of nerve membranes (Kandel et al., 2013).

Plant cells also convey information by alteration of the membrane potential (reviewed by Fromm and Lautner, 2007). Electric signal in plants have been reported to coordinate mechanical movements in the carnivorous plant *Dionaea muscipula* (Burdon and Sanderson, 1873) and the legume *Mimosa pudica* (Bose, M, 1913; Houwink, 1935). Curiously, the filamentous *Nitella* was used to record the first action potentials ever using intracellular microelectrodes (Umrath, 1930). Electric signals were described in pistils upon pollination of corn and rapeseed (Mól et al., 2004; Wędzony and Filek, 1998), where they mediate self-incompatibility and fruit formation as described in Lily (Linskens and Spanjers, 1973; Spanjers, 1981). Electric signals were also observed in responses to wounding (Wildon et al., 1992) and have role in the elicitation of the innate immune response through the jasmonate pathway defense mechanism (Acosta and Farmer, 2010; Mousavi et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2018; Szechyńska-Hebda et al., 2017).

Unlike the electric signal of constant velocity and amplitude in the animal nervous system (Hille, 2001), electric signals in plants have diverse kinetics and propagation mechanisms, and have been proposed to be compartmentalized, by virtue of differential mechanistic causes, in system potentials (SP), action potentials (AP), and slow wave potentials (SWP; also known as variation potentials) (Farmer et al., 2020).

System potential have been described as slow (5-10 cm.min⁻¹) hyperpolarizing signals evoked by application of cations to injured leaves (Zimmermann et al., 2009). AP in plants can propagate autonomously at a speed of 2-3 cm.s⁻¹ (Fromm and Lautner, 2007), and are considered analogous to AP in animal nerves. But unlike using sodium (Na⁺; influx for de-polarization) and potassium (K⁺; for re-polarization) to form APs in animals, plant APs derives from fluxes of chloride (Cl⁻; efflux for de-polarization), Ca²⁺ and K⁺, which are mediated by changes in the conductance of excitable membranes by a repertoire of channels not totally understood in plants (Cuin et al., 2018; Felle and Zimmermann, 2007).

SWP are long-lasting, transient depolarizations that rise in a couple seconds and have a prolonged repolarization that can last up to minutes. This type of signal propagates from injuries like wounding or burning at a speed in the range of cm.min⁻¹ (Stahlberg and Cosgrove, 1996; Stahlberg et al., 2006). The propagation is electrotonic i.e., it does not rely on electrically active membranes, as occurs in APs. Hence, the propagation mechanism of SWPs is still a matter of debate. One theory states that the signal travels as a change of hydraulic pressure transmitted through the xylem upon cellular damage (Farmer et al., 2014; Stahlberg and Cosgrove, 1997). In contrast, it is proposed that SWPs can be initiated by chemical cues released by damaged cells and diffuse quickly in the turbulent flow of the xylem (Sukhov et al., 2013; Vodeneev et al., 2012).

Molecular mechanisms underlying electric signals in plants

Electric excitability among different plant clades is driven by depolarizing anionic (Cl⁻, malate, nitrate) currents and repolarizing K⁺ currents (Cuin et al., 2018; Felle and Zimmermann, 2007; Homann and Thiel, 1994). APs in the more primitive algae model *Chara* have been thoroughly studied, and the participating channels have been identified (Beilby, 2007). However, the molecular identity and coupling mechanism of the different channels that underpin electric signals is not totally clear in higher plants.

Charales is a group of fresh water green plants. It is the living aquatic plant clade most closely related to land plants (Karol et al., 2001). Specifically, plants in the genus *Chara* have branching nodes interconnected by long cells. The size of these internodal cells allowed early intracellular electrophysiological recordings (Umrath, 1930).
Electric stimulation of internodal cells can readily evoke an AP with an average duration of 1 s and an amplitude of around 60 mV (Homann and Thiel, 1994). The conductances implicated in this transient depolarization and slow repolarization have been identified by single channel recordings and ionic concentration manipulation. The depolarization is initiated by increase of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ that comes from intracellular stores (Plieth et al., 1998). Then, depolarization is driven by Cl⁻ efflux through voltage-dependent (Coleman, 1986) and, based on electrophysiological characterization, at least two types of voltage-independent channels are activated by Ca²⁺ (Beilby and Al Khazaaly, 2016; Homann and Thiel, 1994). The molecular identification of these channels is still contentious. Finally, depolarization-activated K⁺ channels mediate an outward rectifying conductance that repolarizes the membrane potential, and provokes a transient hyperpolarization (Beilby, 2007; Homann and Thiel, 1994).

In land plants, channels that mediate fluxes of K^+ , Cl^- , and Ca^{2+} have experimentally been proposed as mediators of depolarizing electric signals, a hypothesis that received support by computer simulations (Sukhov et al., 2011, 2013). Specifically, APs and SWPs are underpinned by a series of feedback loops similar to the ones described in algae; first, in SWPs, cytosolic Ca^{2+} induces fast anionic depolarization and posteriorly K⁺ mediated repolarization, while a long term H⁺ ATPase inhibition maintains the observed prolonged depolarization (Felle and Zimmermann, 2007; Sukhov et al., 2013). In contrast, APs in land plants present the same Ca^{2+} initiation, anionic depolarization and K⁺ repolarization, but there is no long-lasting inhibition of the H⁺ pump (Sukhov et al., 2011; Vodeneev et al., 2006), hence the repolarization of APs is considerably faster than that of SWPs.

Genetic identity of electric signal mediators

The molecular identity of the anionic channels involved in electric signaling is not known but several candidates have been proposed, namely those that mediate bulk ionic fluxes and drive depolarization and stomatal opening through water movement (Roelfsema et al., 2012). Those channels were initially classified by electrophysiology, as defining two independent anion based de-polarization profiles, one slow and one fast. Molecular characterization later showed these activities to be grossly attributable to members of the families of the Slow Activating Anion Channel (SLAC) and the Aluminum activated Malate Transporter channel (ALMT), respectively, identified in guard cells of *Vicia Faba* (Dietrich and Hedrich, 1998; Raschke et al., 2003), *Nicotiana tabacum* (Stange et al., 2010), and *Arabidopsis* (Imes et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 2010; Mumm et al., 2013).

In particular, ALMT channels, which in Arabidopsis and other species do not transport Aluminum, were originally classified as rapid (R-type) anion channels, due to their voltage-dependent gating response in the range of 100 ms (Meyer et al., 2010; Mumm et al., 2013), and have been hypothesized to be implicated in the rapid membrane potential depolarization of AP and SWP. This is supported by theoretical models but not yet experimentally shown (Hedrich et al., 2016; Sukhov et al., 2013).

Other type of anionic channels likely implicated in electric signaling are the members of the stretch activated channel family MSL. This family of 10 channels is homologue to the bacterial Mechanosensitive channels of small Conductance (MscS), and despite the low sequence conservation, these channels provide effective mechano-sensitivity to plant cells (Monshausen and Haswell, 2013). The family member MSL10 has been shown in *vitro* to permeate anions upon mechanical stimuli (Maksaev and Haswell, 2012), to mediate mechanically activated depolarization in *Arabidopsis* root cells (Haswell et al., 2008), and its homologue in the carnivorous plant *Dioneae*

muscipula has been found highly expressed in electrically excitable cells (Procko et al., 2020). It is hypothesized that MSL10 can initiate electric signals in *Arabidopsis* (Guerringue et al., 2018).

In contrast, some K^+ and Ca^{2+} channels have been genetically identified as active mediator of electric signals. Outward rectifying K^+ channels were early reported in plant membrane excitability (Blatt and Thiel, 1994). There are several genes in *Arabidopsis* that encode this type of channels: the Shaker family has several members that have been described as outward rectifying and voltage dependent (Véry and Sentenac, 2002). The Guard cell Outward Rectifying K⁺ channel (GORK), is a member of the Shaker superfamily (Ache et al., 2000). It is a depolarization-activated, outward rectifying K⁺ channel that limits the amplitude of the anionic depolarization and partially mediates the repolarization (Cuin et al., 2018; Riedelsberger et al., 2015).

Regarding the Ca2+ conductance active during electric signals, the Glutamate Receptors-Like channels (GLR) have been proposed as responsible for the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ increase that precedes depolarization. *Arabidopsis* plants with no expression of GLR3.3 and GLR3.6 present a small depolarization on the wounding site but no SWP propagation in response to that stimulus (Mousavi et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2018).

Propagation mechanisms of electric signals

The channels implicated in electric excitability have been identified in AP and SWP and used interchangeably as base to propose mechanistic theories of both types of electric signals. The use of channels described in one type (AP or SWP) to drive conclusions in other type of electric signals can be troublesome due to their inherent different propagation mechanisms. E.g. the implication of GLRs as depolarizing, Ca²⁺ permeable channels, was described during wound-induced SWP (Nguyen et al., 2018), and the role of GORK in membrane potential repolarization was described in an electrically induced AP (Cuin et al., 2018). In particular, GLRs as mediators of Ca²⁺ initiated depolarization in SWP is hard to apply to AP initiation due to the non-electric SWP propagation mechanism, and the yet unknown voltage-sensitivity of GLRs.

Moreover, AP is an electric signal that actively propagates while SWP is a local response to a propagating signal that can be mechanical or chemical (Sukhova et al., 2017). SWP propagation relies on a ligand or mechanical sensitive Ca²⁺ channel (Sukhov et al., 2013), while AP propagation on a voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ (Beilby and Al Khazaaly, 2016; Sukhov et al., 2011). GLR3.3 and GLR3.6, which are associated with initiating SWPs, have not

been shown to be voltage sensitive, and hence cannot be proposed as initiators of APs. This incapacity of extrapolating molecular mechanisms described in SWP to AP and vice versa, have ground on one hand, in the lack of a consensual mechanism for SWP propagation, and on the other, in a lack of knowledge of the functional properties of channels, and calls for further dissection.

There are two models of SWP propagation mechanism: the chemical and the hydraulic, which have theoretical and experimental support but are not easy to reconciliate. The hydraulic theory states that a SWP response can be elicited by a change in the hydraulic pressure inside xylem vessels (Stahlbeth et al., 2006). A pressure increase of 60 kPa in intact pea roots triggers an electric signal that propagates at a rate of 2 - 3 cm.min⁻¹ (Stahlberg and Cosgrove, 1997). The fact that the hydraulic wave propagates faster than this signal was experimentally demonstrated (Vodeneev et al., 2012), and fits into theoretical expectations (Sukhov et al., 2013), so it has been hypothesized that the lag between the hydraulic propagation and the electric response happens due to a delayed change of pressure in the electric responsiveness of cells adjacent to the transmitting vessels (Vodeneev et al., 2012). Parallel to this, it is known that the parenchyma cells have a higher elasticity than the vascular tissue,

where the hydraulic wave travels. This means that the former require longer time to change their size to a level that can be sensed by stretch channels, if at all (Huber and Bauerle, 2016). This could account for the delay between the fast transmission of a hydraulic wave in the rigid xylem, and the slower response of the adjacent cells.

On the other hand, the chemical theory of SWP propagation posits that wounding induces diffusion of compounds, released from ruptured cells, along the xylem vessels, and these substances are the ones that elicit an electric response (Sibaoka, 1997). Wound induced diffusion in leaves was measured with luciferin and radioactive ¹⁴C-Sucrose, yielding velocities similar to those of the SWP propagation (Rhodes et al., 1999; Vodeneev et al., 2012). Mathematical modelling demonstrates that the measured diffusion speed of molecules in the xylem is faster than expected in a liquid column. However, it is has been argued that the flow in the xylem is turbulent, facilitating the diffusion of molecules and reconciling the mathematical predictions with experimental observations (Sukhov et al., 2013; Vodeneev et al., 2012).

Additional support to the chemical diffusion theory comes from the application of glutamate (Glu) in very high concentrations (100 mM) on wounded leaves to initiate a propagating signal with the characteristics of a wound-induced SWP (Demidchik et al., 2004; Toyota et al., 2018). These results have been used to postulate Glu as a molecule capable of initiating a SWP and GLR3.3-3.6 as the receptors propitiating it, but the issues implicated with the use of such high concentration are not totally addressed. This molecular mechanism of SWP local excitability deserves further investigation to determine its involvement in the hydraulic and chemical propagation models.

Ligand excitability in roots

Intact roots respond locally to Glu and other amino acids. They present a short depolarization similar to an AP, that is mediated by GLR3.3 (Qi et al., 2006). This AP-like response was recorded in roots completely imbibed in solution, so the whole root was simultaneously stimulated. This makes it impossible to determine if this signal is propagating, and thus remains uncertain whether it is a travelling AP or if it is a local response that corresponds to the initial phase of a SWP. This information is essential to determine the excitable properties of root cell membranes, the substrate to comprehend the propagation mechanism of electric signals in the tissue.

Moreover, the sensitivity of any tissue to a signal is determined by the receptor gating properties. GLRs activity is optimized by CORNICHON-HOMOLOGUE proteins 1 and 4 (CNIH1-4) which support pollen tube directional growth (Wudick et al., 2018). Such optimization has been observed in heterologous expression of GLRs of the clade 3 with CNIH4, including the electric signaling related GLR3.3 and GLR3.6 (Wudick et al., 2018a)(Simon, et al., under review). It is unknown if CNIHs enhance ligand sensitivity or the electric response in planta, and by extension, the electric responsiveness of plant tissue to Glu.

Comprehension of the Glu-induced electric signal propagation, and GLR gating properties effect on the ligand sensitivity of intact roots can shed light on the molecular mechanisms of SWP, and help outline the building blocks shared by the ancient AP and the novel SWP response. This research aims to characterize the propagation of Glu-induced electric response in roots and determine the role of CNIH4 in it. We hypothesize that the transient electric response of root cells to Glu is a local non-propagating signal, hence

corresponds to the chemical phase of the SWP response observed by mechanical wounding.

Results

L-glutamate (Glu) initiates a local transient signal

Standardized electric responses were recorded in intact roots after application of Glu. Root cortical cells were impaled at the elongation zone using sharp electrodes (access resistance > 100M Ω), impaling at 5 mm above the tip. Roots were stimulated by 1µl of 1mM glutamate (Glu) (figure 2.1). All the impalements were performed in the second cell layer of the cortical cells i.e., in the second membrane voltage drop below -120mV along the perpendicular progression of the electrode impalement (figure 2.1-A), corresponding to an estimated impalement depth within 15 and 25 µm.



Figure 2.1. Experimental setup of root cortical cell impalement with sharp electrodes. Left- Electrical recording of the electrode entering the root tissue. The blue arrowhead denotes contact of the electrode with the root epidermis, subsequent black arrowheads denote transition from extracellular (-20 mV) to intracellular (-120 mV) position. Right- Disposition of the capillary for stimulus application (bottom), and the recording electrode (top – lines illustrate electrode position that approaches in a plane nearly perpendicular to the imaging plane, resulting out-of-focus)

Root cortical cells of wild type plants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Col-0) depolarized with an amplitude of $95.6 \pm 19.1 \text{ mV}$ (mean \pm SE, n=15) after Glu stimulation (figure 2.2). Simultaneous Ca²⁺ transients were measured with an increase of pixel intensity of 103 ± 29 AU (arbitrary units; n=7) from the baseline determined before the stimulus. These Ca²⁺ transients were characterized by a slower raising time, with a half-maximum time of 33 ± 25 s, in contrast to the 2.1 ± 1 s of the electric transient. Subsequently, the membrane potential quickly repolarized, with a half-decay time of 53 ± 38 s after stimulus. The Ca²⁺ transient decayed with a half-time of 148 ± 73 s.

The recorded signal and the stimulus were spatially separated by a distance of over 5 mm, which can be interpreted as reflecting (1) the propagation of the signal, as happens in AP, or (2) the propagation of the stimulus, like in SWP. In an attempt to determine the nature of the propagation a dose-response relationship was established (figure 2.3).



Figure 2.2. Electric and Ca²⁺ response elicited by 1mM Glu in root cells. Black trace represents the intracellular membrane potential. Green trace represents the increase of fluorescence intensity of GCaMP7c expressing roots, representative of cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration.

We observed that the depolarization amplitude increased along with the concentration of Glu. This suggests passive diffusion of the signal rather than an active, electrically coupled propagation proper of an AP. Of relevance, the control stimulation with [Glu] = 0 evoked a depolarization with an amplitude of $45.9 \pm 16.5 \text{ mV}$ (*n*=9), and the maximum stimulus of [Glu] = 100 mM is moderately smaller $83.8 \pm 20 \text{ mV}$ (*n*=5) than the response to a ten-fold smaller stimulus $128.2 \pm 33.3 \text{ mV}$ (*n*=5). Given that stimulation with [Glu] = 1 mM is the minimum concentration at which the curve reached a plateau, the consecutive experiments used a stimulus at that representative concentration.

The passive nature of the propagation could be an internal depolarization that decays over distance, similar to a subthreshold depolarization in an axon (Kandel et al., 2013), or a propagating stimulus that diffuses over the mucilage on root surface, product of adsorption by molecular interactions (Oades, 1978).

To determine if the phenomenon observed is internal decay of an initial depolarization or external propagation of the stimulus, We designed diffusional physical barriers, placed between the recording and stimulus sites. A first approach consisted in a 5 mm thick barrier of agar placed perpendicular



through the agar and emerging on the other side (figure 2.4-A).

This barrier was not intended to prevent glutamate diffusion, since molecules can diffuse in agar with various diffusion coefficients (Schantz and Lauffer, 1962). Instead, this barrier design rather intended to disperse the onedimensional diffusion that occurred on the surface of the root, into a threedimensional diffusion inside the agar barrier. Even if Glu diffuses through the agar, given the diffusional half sphere imposed by the agar, concentration would decay with the square of the distance, thus effectively slowing down the concentration wavefront that elicits the depolarization along the longitudinal axis of the root. Such reduction in Glu availability to stimulate the root should break the signal in case of external diffusion, but any diffusion/reaction internal to the root would remain unaltered.



Figure 2.4. Membrane potential response to stimuli proximal and distal to the recording site with agar barrier in between.

A. Representation of the experimental setup. A 7-day old root grew through the agar barrier.B. Intracellular membrane potential was recorded in the mature side of the barrier (electrode diagram-upper part). The root is stimulated with 1 mM Glu distal (orange) and proximal (blue) to the recording site.

Membrane potential was recorded on the upper side of the agar barrier, and 1 mM Glu was applied proximal, and distal to this recording site. The response to the distal stimulus was completely abolished, but to the stimulus on the mature zone, proximal to the recording site, remains as in the control condition, (figure 2.4-B). As a second approach, we aimed at validating these results by using a barrier of mineral oil instead of agar. Given its hydrophobicity, it would be expectable to abolish completely any external diffusion. In accordance with our hypothesis, we observed complete

abolishment of the signal when Glu was applied behind the oil barrier (around 5 mm away). As a control, root tip ablation at the same position where Glu was applied triggered the internally propagating SWP (figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Recording of intracellular calcium transient of GCaMP7c expressing plant with a mineral oil barrier between stimulus and recording sites.

A. GCaMP7c expressing *Arabidopsis* root. A drop of mineral oil is applied 2-3 mm above the tip, the imaging site is 5-6 mm above the tip. The tip of the root is stimulated with 1mM Glu, and 5 min later it is ablated. The Glu-induced response does not propagate but the internal SWP does.

B. Pixel intensity trace of the time series represented above. Ablation trace is represented by the green line, Glu stimulus by the black line.

The capacity of the stimulus to initiate the stereotypical response only when no barrier stands between the recording site strongly suggests the propagation of the electrical stimulus is in fact a consequence of the diffusion of the externally applied elicitor. This sets the base to argue that the response to Glu is spatially transmitted by passive diffusion of the stimulus rather than by any internal (excitable) mechanism.

Further repetitions of these experiments were standardized by maintaining a constant distance of 5 mm between the stimulus at the tip and the recording site with or without the diffusion barrier. The difference between the response with and without barrier is significant (figure 2.6).





Membrane potential and Ca²⁺ recordings of roots stimulated at the tip, 5mm away from the recording site, under the presence (orange) or absence (blue) of an agar barrier between the recording and stimulation sites.

CNIH4 optimize GLR-mediated electric response

External application of Glu to intact root tissue initiates a local, transient depolarization and cytosolic Ca^{2+} rise. The non-propagating nature of the reported response above is shared with SWP response. We aimed to determine

if the electric and Ca2+ local transients, triggered by Glu and independent of wounding, are sustained by the same molecular mechanisms as the SWP.



For this we stimulated mutant plants lacking the GLRs that initiate the SWP in response to wounding – GLR3.1-2-3-6.

Roots of mutant plants *glr3.1-2-3-6* were stimulated with 1 mM Glu at the tip and intracellular membrane potential was recorded around 3 mm above the tip with no barrier separating these points. The electric transient recorded presented a significantly diminished response amplitude of 12.0 ± 10.4 mV (*n*=5) (figure 2.7).

Heterologous expression of GLR3.2 and GLR3.3 yield ligand-induced currents only when coexpressed with CNIH4 (Wudick et al., 2018a)(Simon, et al., under review). We thus aimed to determine how that fundamental interaction in vitro affects the GLR-mediated electric response herein reported. *cnih4* mutant plants subjected to the same protocol had a mean maximum amplitude after Glu of 78.5 ± 24.8 mV (*n*=14) (Figure 2.8-B), significantly different from that of Col0 plants (t-test p < 0.001). The response kinetics of the *cnih4* mutant appears to be very different from the wildtype, which a much slower rise after the initial raise, and much prolonged repolarization. Yet further comparison of the values for half-time raise (cnih4 - 1.5 ± 0.9 s; Col0 - 2.1 ± 1.6 s; t-test p=0.972) and half-time decay (*cnih4* - 55.4 ± 2.8 s; Col0 - 53.5 ± 38.0 s; t-test *p*=0.950) revealed no significant statistical difference.

Discussion

Our results present evidence that Glu can diffuse externally on the root surface and trigger cytosolic Ca²⁺ increase and membrane depolarization, which is dependent on the activity of various GLRs. The signal is optimized by CNIH4, a promoter of GLR gating capacity in response to amino acids. The external fast diffusion likely occurs in the thin (0.5 μ m) layer of mucilage present in intact roots (Oades, 1978), and the reported electric response might correspond to the initial phase of the SWP response.

Signal diffusion on root surface

Excretion of mucilage has been observed on the surface of roots of various plant species. It is composed of multiple polysaccharides and glucans (Oades, 1978). One of the functions of this mucilage is to increase the water availability in the space immediately proximal to the root surface, called the rhizosphere (Ahmed et al., 2014; Schwartz et al., 2015). This stable sheath of liquid medium on the root surface generates a geometry which, in our experimental setup, optimizes diffusion over the small volume determined by the thickness of this layer, thus allowing diffusion parallel to the root

longitudinal axis. This explains the dose-dependent, and distance-dependent response to Glu, and its obliteration by a physical barrier.

There is experimental an theoretical evidence that demonstrates how the liquid sheath formed by mucilage supports nutrient transport along the root surface in the event of drying soil, which could aid the root at distributing nutrient and salt gradients along a bigger area to optimize nutrient absorption and minimize osmotic stress (Ahmed et al., 2014; Zarebanadkouki et al., 2019).

Since multiple signaling peptides have been identified in root secretion of the land plant *Medicago truncatula* (Patel et al., 2018), and given the excitability of root cortical cells in response to Glu here demonstrated, we hypothesize that rhizosphere-directed diffusion can be an effective pathway of signal transmission. Signaling molecules released by any fragment of the root diffuse longitudinally on the root surface, as salts have been shown to do in the rhizosphere (Zarebanadkouki et al., 2019).

The role of GLR conductance in SWP

Here we show that Glu can induce a local depolarization and Ca²⁺ increase in root cortical cells. Hence, we propose that a transient, non-propagating, depolarizing response to Glu is inherent to cells located external and internal to the root endodermis. This agrees with the reported depolarization triggered by Glu in protoplast of epidermal cells and in vasculature of wounded roots (Demidchik et al., 2004; Shao et al., 2020).

The Glu-induced electric response of root cells we now report is significantly shorter (53.5 \pm 38.0 s, *n*=15) in comparison to the reported wound-induced **SWP** response (223 \pm 125 s, *n*=10) (Nguyen et al., 2018) (t-test p-value < 0.0001). In contrast, the Ca²⁺ transient we report (148 \pm 73 s, *n*=7) has a similar duration to the one triggered by wounding (134 \pm 36 s, n=4) (Nguyen et al., 2018) (p-values=0.6), or by Glu application to a wounded site (150 s) (Toyota et al., 2018a). Based on these results, we posit that the **SWP** is the integration of two signaling events mediated by different mechanisms: (1) a fast (1-2 s) peak depolarization and a Ca²⁺ transient increase that decays after 150 s and is independent of wounding, and (2) a sustained depolarization and increased Ca²⁺ cytosolic concentration that lasts several minutes and is dependent on wounding (Nguyen et al., 2018).

The depolarization of roots upon Glu application is abolished in the *glr3.1-2-3-6* plants. Currents triggered by amino acid application in root protoplast, recoded using patch clamp, were also diminished in the *glr3.1-2* double knockout, furtherly diminished in *glr3.3*, and completely abolished in *glr3.6* (Mou et al., 2020). This leads to the conclusion that GLR3.6 is the directly implicated in the signal triggered by Glu in intact roots, while GLR3.1-2-3 are only partially implicated.

Our data also suggests that the initial fast depolarization of SWP corresponds to the transient we now describe. Both are mainly mediated by GLR3.3-6, and their depolarization peak and Ca^{2+} transient have compatible kinetics (Mou et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2018; Toyota et al., 2018b). This signal is local, but in the case of SWP, the ligand is likely propagated by diffusion through the xylem, and accelerated by its turbulent flow (Sukhov et al., 2013; Vodeneev et al., 2012).

Despite the fact that GLRs are implicated in this local depolarization and cytosolic Ca^{2+} increase, it is known that GLRs could permeate anions as well as cations. Then arises the question of whether these receptors mediate Ca^{2+}

currents or anionic currents in the ligand-triggered response. In the case of GLR Ca^{2+} permeability, they would account for the Ca^{2+} transient, but would require the activity of hyperpolarizing channels to accomplish a depolarization shorter than the Ca^{2+} increase. On the contrary, in the case of anionic permeability, it can be argued that GLRs account for the initial depolarization and activate a Ca^{2+} conductance. This questions requires further research that determines the pore selectivity of the specific heterotetramers present in excitable cells.

In this research we present a depolarization response of 40 mV initiated by application of control solution in the absence of ligand (1/2MS, pH5.7). Such depolarization was also observed in the quadruple mutants *glr3.1-2-3-6*, suggesting that it is likely not mediated by GLRs. Moreover, the regression of the dose-response curve showed a best fit to a 4-parameter hill equation, which should have a sigmoidal shape that was not fully obtained. This is due to the existence of a response that is not related to amino acid stimulus; hence the initial flat phase of the ligand-related response sigmoidal curve is masked by the response to another stimulus.

It is possible that this non ligand-related depolarization is triggered by the mechanical artifact of the stimulation mechanism, which could induce depolarization by anionic efflux through mechanosensitive channels (Guerringue et al., 2018). MSL10 has been shown to mediate chloride currents in heterologous expression and, along other members of the MSL family, underpin stretch-activated currents in root protoplast (Haswell et al., 2008). MSL channels could be responsible not only for the response we report but could actually have a function as the initiators of the hydraulic component of SWPs.

Furthermore, it has been hypothesized from mathematical models that sustained depolarization in SWP, the second phase, is product of proton pumps inactivation by the influx of Ca^{2+} through ligand-gated Ca^{2+} channels (Sukhov et al., 2013). This agrees with the abolition of the two phases of SWP in *glr3.3-6* (Nguyen et al., 2018). However, this hypothesis is not compatible with the transient signal we now report, in which intracellular Ca^{2} increases but does not induce a sustained depolarization, suggesting that the occurrence of two signals is required for this sustained depolarization to occur.

It is possible that in the SWP response the proton pump inactivation requires the occurrence of the initial ligand-gated Ca^{2+} transient, and additionally, other events likely related to the hydraulic wave. It is also possible that only the cell types adjacent to the xylem, but not the cortical cells, present a mechanism of Ca^{2+} -dependent proton pump inactivation, hence respond differently to the same ligand-induced transient. Further research on the mechanism that controls sustained depolarization in SWP is necessary to understand how information transduction of wounding events occurs in plants, and how electric signals in higher plants evolved as a synergy of simpler signaling mechanisms.

Methods

Plant material

Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0, *glr3.7* (Salk_103942), and *cnih4* (Salk_145991) lines were obtained from the Salk institute (La Jolla, CA, USA). *glr3.1-2-3-6* was developed and obtained from Edward Farmer (University of Lausanne, Switzerland). Col-0 plants were transformed with the bud dipping method in Agrobacterium containing plasmid vector with GCaMP7 controlled by 35S promoter.

Seeds were surface sterilized and sown on petri dished 0.8% agar with half strength Murashige-Skoog salt, and then stratified in 4° C for 24 hours. The plates were then subjected to a light/dark regime of 16:8 at 20° C in a vertical position to allow roots to grow in a linear manner. 7-10 days old plants were used for data acquisition.

Root cell impalement

For current-clamp recordings, roots were hydrated 20 minutes prior to impalement with liquid 1/2MS pH 5.7. The dishes were placed on an inverted microscope and the roots were impaled at \approx 2mm above the root tip and 2-3 cells (10-40µm) deep into the tissue. The impalement was done with a sharp electrode, resistance >100MΩ, filled with 3M KCl. Pipettes were pulled using a P97 puller (Sutter Instrument, Novato, CA, USA). The membrane voltage was tracked at a sampling frequency of 2-4 kHz and filtered at 1-2 kHz using an Axopatch 200A amplifier with an Axon 1200 DigiData analogto-digital converter and pCLAMP software (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). For the stimulus of the tissue a 1µl drop was delivered with a 1mm thick capillary placed at the tip of the root and controlled by a CellTram microinjector (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). The D-mannitol and L-Glu stimulus solutions (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) were made at a concentration of 1mM on liquid 1/2MS and balanced to pH5.7.

Microscopy and Ca2+ imaging

Fluorescent observation of GCaMP7c expressing plants was done using an MVX-ZB10 Olympus stereozoom (Olympus America Inc., MA, USA). Illumination was provided by a MVX coaxial fluorescent illuminator with a GFP filter set with excitation: 470/40 nm, dichroic: 495 nm long-pass, emission: 525/50 nm. Image acquisition was done with a Hamamatsu Flash4.0 V3 sCMOS digital camera. The acquisition of time series was standardized at exposure time of 250 ms, laser at 25% intensity, and sample rate 1Hz.

Data processing and analysis

Image processing and quantification was done using FIJI. All data resulting from electrophysiological recordings and fluorescent imaging was processed in R, and statistical tests were done in SigmaPlot (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA).

Chapter 3: GLR3.7 mediates root hair elongation by maintenance of apical depolarization

Introduction

Root hairs are unicellular, tubular projections specialized in water and mineral uptake, soil anchorage and microbe interaction (Eshel and Beeckman, 2013). In *Arabidopsis*, root hairs have a diameter of about 10 μ m and can elongate up to 1mm from the root epidermis (Grierson et al., 2014). Root hairs originate from differentiated epidermal cells, the trichoblasts. The radial distribution pattern of trichoblasts and atrichoblasts in the root occurs in a stereotypical, controlled manner along the epidermis that results in 18 to 22 files of trichoblasts. Elongation of root hairs is driven by conserved mechanisms that relays on proper homeostasis of Ca²⁺ increase and ion fluxes at the cell tip (Becker et al., 2014; Schiefelbein et al., 1992; Vissenberg et al., 2001).

Trichoblast differentiation

On radial plane, the epidermis of *Arabidopsis* roots is formed by 18 to 22 files of cells (Berger et al., 1998), along which trichoblasts are equally separated from each other by atrichoblasts. This is determined by a strict positiondependent pattern (Galway et al., 1994). The cell layer underneath the epidermis is the cortical cell layer. The fate of epidermal cells is determined by their relative position over the underlying cortical cells: if an epidermal cell is in contact with two cells of the cortical layer, it differentiate into a trichoblasts, if it is in contact with only one cortical cell, stays as an atrichoblast (figure 3.1). This condition, and the geometrical disposition of root cells, assures that trichoblasts are always separated by one or two atrichoblasts in the circumference of the root (Dolan et al., 1994; Galway et al., 1994).

The pattern of genetic transcription differs between root hair forming and nonforming cells. Atrichoblasts, specifically, express the genes *GLABRA2* (*GL2*), *WEREWOLF* (*WER*), and *TRANSPARENT TESTA GLABRA* (*TTG*) (Galway et al., 1994; Lee and Schiefelbein, 1999; Masucci and Schiefelbein, 1996). Interestingly, the earliest expression of *GL2* occurs prior to the formation of the meristem, which primes the initial positions that later cues the positiondependent pattern as the root grows (Lin and Schiefelbein, 2001).

In contrast, trichoblasts have clear morphological differences before the clear bulging of the root hair, including faster cell division rate, reduced cell length, and unique cell surface ornamentation (Dolan et al., 1994). Also, trichoblast formation is promoted by the phytohormones ethylene and auxin.

Application of ACC, precursor of ethylene, induces formation of ectopic root hairs (Tanimoto et al., 1995), and mutations in genes of the ethylene and auxin signaling pathways generate roots without hairs, as for example, *AUXIN RESISTANT2* and *3 (AXR2, AXR3)* (Leyser et al., 1996); and *ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 2* and *3 (EIN2, EIN3)*, members of the ethylene signaling pathway (Feng et al., 2018, 2017; Martín-Rejano et al., 2011).

Other genes identified as regulators downstream of auxin and ethylene pathways are the *ROOT HAIR DEFECTIVE 6* (*RHD6*), and members of its family *ROOT HAIR DEFECTIVE 6-like* (*RSL*). Mutations in these genes induces hairless roots, and can be recovered by application of ACC or the auxin indole-3-aceti acid (IAA) (Feng et al., 2017; Honkanen and Dolan, 2016; Masucci and Schiefelbein, 1996; Proust et al., 2016).

The genes that determine each cell type interact across neighboring cells, giving rise to the radial distribution pattern described: The activity of *GL2*, *GL3*, and *WER*, is endogenous to every cell and inhibits *RHD6*, hence cells

stay an atrichoblast as a default fate. On the other hand, the gene *SCRAMBLED (SCM)*, that accumulates from the interaction with cortical cells, inhibits the activity of *WER*, allowing *RHD6* to function, thus diverting from the default epidermal cell fate and inducing trichoblast formation through the activity of ethylene and auxin (figure 3.2) (Bruex et al., 2012; Kwak and Schiefelbein, 2008).

Root hair initiation

An epidermal cell that differentiates into a trichoblast undergoes physiological and morphological changes that allows it to locally swell on the basal end and elongate the cell wall and membrane on the apical growing end to form the root hair. Initially, GTPases are recruited to the region that is going to bulge by the receptor-like kinase FERONIA (FER) (Duan et al., 2010). In parallel, the pH of the cell wall is lowered, and the cytoplasmic pH elevates from 7.3 to 7.7 at the initiation site (Bibikova et al., 1998). Acidification of the apoplast likely activates expansins that also accumulate in this area. These proteins loosen the cell wall to allow expansion (Bruex et al., 2012), culminating in the generation of a bulge in the membrane, inside which actin filaments are accumulated (Baluška et al., 2000). All this process is directed by the expression of *RSL4*, which prolongs shortly during the elongation phase, and determines the final length of the root hair (Datta et al., 2015; Lee and Schiefelbein, 2002).



Figure 3.2. Regulatory feedbacks between cortical cells atrichoblasts (N) and trichoblasts (H). SCM coming from cortical cells inhibits the positive feedbacks of atrichoblast determining genes, that allows RHD6 to initiate trichoblast differentiation. It is no known that other RSL genes are affected but are not included in this figure Proust et al., 2016. Modified from Grierson et al., 2014

The initiation process is a transition towards implementing the necessary machinery that allows tip elongation. This machinery involves the expression of the RSL gene family, which is conserved across land plants, and ionic channels that support strong ionic currents, and constant cytoplasmic streaming that provides vesicles to the elongating tip (Emons and Ketelaar, 2009; Proust et al., 2016).

Root hair elongation

The elongation phase is characterized by tip elongation at a pace of 1-2µm.min⁻¹, which requires constant exocytosis of vesicles loaded with the necessary material for cell wall synthesis and membrane deposition (Ketelaar et al., 2008). Simultaneously, it is necessary to maintain a positive internal pressure that assures expansion, and constant cytoplasmic streaming that provide vesicles to the root tip. This is sustained by constant ionic fluxes that drive water into the cell and also organize the cytoplasm, and actin deposition that composes the path for cytoplasmic streaming (Emons and Ketelaar, 2009).

At this stage, the growing tip is defined by the peak of a cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentration gradient, which determines the direction of growth, and disappears when the root hair stops elongating (Schiefelbein et al., 1992; Wymer et al., 1997). The function of this important signaling ion at the growing tip is to promote vesicle fusion, and actin cytoskeleton turnover to allow flexible expansion, while the acid pH and the GTP-binding proteins at the tip are maintained (Bibikova et al., 1997; Ketelaar, 2013; Pei et al., 2012).

Both elongation and Ca²⁺ have an oscillatory behavior. The Ca²⁺ gradient fluctuates with two main frequency components: a low frequency around 0.01Hz, and a high frequency around 0.04Hz, the latter is coordinated with oscillations of cytoplasmic pH, ROS production, and elongation frequency (Candeo et al., 2017; Lassig et al., 2014; Mendrinna and Persson, 2015). Interestingly, Ca²⁺ oscillation in moss apical elongating cells also coordinate the turnover of actin polymerization with cell growth (Bascom et al., 2018).

The membrane potential of root hairs is maintained between -160 and -200mV, which ensures extracellular influx of Ca², and influences the speed of cytoplasmic streaming (Ayling et al., 1994). Hyperpolarization-activated Ca²⁺ channels, and Depolarization-Activated Ca²⁺ Channels have been identified in protoplasted root hair tips (spheroblasts) (Miedema et al., 2008; Véry and Davies, 2000). In *Arabidopsis* pollen tube, members of the GLRs and Cyclic Nucleotide-Gated Channels (CNGC) families have been identified as the Ca²⁺ conductances that sustain the ionic gradient and growth (Frietsch et al., 2007; Michard et al., 2011). While CNGCs can regulate intracellular Ca²⁺ oscillation, and some have been characterized as voltage-dependent (Dietrich et al., 2020), no genetic identity is known for the Ca^{2+} channels implicated in root hair elongation.

It is known that environmental chemical cues can alter root hair development. E.g., low phosphate or boron concentrations promote root hair formation and elongation. Nitrogen is another important nutrient that roots can only take in as organic compounds, like amino acids. There is no evidence that links root hair development with amino acids, but these can initiate electric and Ca²⁺ transients in root cells (Mou et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2006). A similar transient response is triggered by wounding, and has also been observed to increase ethylene (Marhavý et al., 2019). These fragments of data prompted us to consider a novel hypothesis for the mechanism beyond root hair development, implying a link between amino acid electric sensitivity, Ca²⁺ increase, and ethylene production. On the other hand, recent evidence converges to suggest that GLRs are implicated in one or more stages of root hair development: exogenous chemical cues can alter root hair development (Martín-Rejano et al., 2011; Savage et al., 2013); root cells can sense exogenous amino acids, including ACC, and respond by membrane depolarization and intracellular Ca²⁺ increase mediated by GLR3.3/3.6 and in a less degree by GLR3.1/3.2 (Mou et al., 2020; Stephens et al., 2008); not only ACC is precursor of
ethylene, but also electric and Ca^{2+} transients induce ethylene production (Marhavý et al., 2019), necessary for root hair development; lastly, GLR1.2 and GLR3.7 ensure proper Ca^{2+} homeostasis and pollen tube elongation in *Arabidopsis* (Michard et al., 2011).

The presence of all the 20 GLRs in the ensemble of all the different root cells (Chiu et al., 2002) increases possible functional redundancies, hence compensating the lack of one functional channel with others, notwithstanding functional combinations by heteromerization. This is a challenge for determining GLR function by reverse genetics. Furthermore, novel information on electrophysiological properties of the GLR clade 3 from our group (Simon et al., under review) seems to implicate members of this clade as likely implicated in ligand gating functions. Of relevance, GLR3.7 enhances the ligand sensitivity and current intensities of other GLRs when heteromerized together (Simon et.al., under review). We hypothesize that strongly gated GLR3.7, most likely heteromerized to other clade 3 members, support the Ca²⁺ homeostasis during root hair elongation, hence maintaining proper apical growth.

Results

GLR3.7 and Glu induce root hair elongation

In wild type and mutant glr3.7 plants, the amount and length of root hairs was determined in a section of 5 mm in the mature zone of the root, where root hairs growth ceased (Datta et al., 2015). The count of elongated trichoblasts was not significantly different between Col-0 (49.9 ± 12.8 , n=275) and glr3.7 (50.2 ± 10.8 , n=30). However, the length of those root hairs was significantly smaller by ca. 1/3 in the mutant (0.12 ± 0.05 mm) in comparison to Col-0 (0.32 ± 0.16 mm; p-value<0.01) (figure 3.3).

As demonstrated in chapter 2 of this thesis, the application of Glu induces a transient depolarization and Ca2+ increase in root cells, which is diminished in the *glr3.7* mutant. Additionally, similar electric transients have been shown in response to other proteinogenic amino acids (Stephens et al., 2008). This led to the hypothesis that other amino acids might influence root hair development through GLR activation.





Figure 3.3. Root hair count and length in Col-0 and *glr3.7* plants. A- Bright field pictures of 7 days old seedlings. Dotted line denotes the region above which root hairs were measured. B- quantification of root hairs number and length in a section of 5 mm in the mature zone (asterisks= significant differences (p <0.01, Student *t*)

To characterize their influence on trichoblasts differentiation and elongation of root hairs, we screened ACC, Glu and other proteinogenic amino acids described in the literature as having any stimulation of electric activity compatible with GLR properties. We thus challenged roots with asparagine (Asp), cysteine (Cys), methionine (Met), L- and D-Serine (Ser) and Glu, all diluted in liquid 1/2MS growing medium to the final concentrations of 0.1 and 1.0 mM. 5µl of solution was applied on the root tip, and after 24 hours, where the root continued to grow, all visible root hairs were counted and measured from tip to the base at the epidermis.

All the proteinogenic amino acids induced a response that clustered between the strongest effect of ACC (1.0)mM) (count:81.7±10.7; length:1.09 \pm 0.19mm, *n*=13; see upper right corner of the graph, detached from all others) and the 1/2MS control treatment (count:49.9±12.9; length: 0.52 ± 0.22 mm, n=14) (figure 3.4). The control treatment was not statistically different both in terms of count and length from Col-0 without treatment. The root hair response for both concentrations of all the treatments did not differ strongly, with the only exception of methionine at 0.1mM, that caused a decrease of count and length. Glu in both concentrations induced the strongest root hair elongation (Glu 0.1mM-length: 0.66 ± 0.08 mm, n=10) (Glu1mM- length: 0.72 ± 0.14 mm, n=10). Given that Glu (1mM) yields the longest root hairs among the proteinogenic amino acids screened, it is further used to investigate how amino acids induce elongation.

Having characterized the response to amino acids, we aimed to determine if the enhanced elongation obtained from Glu is mediated by GLR3.7, and the possibility of multiple GLR being partially involved. This shared function happens in Glu-triggered electric signaling (Nguyen et al., 2018), or in ACC sensing by GLRs in Arabidopsis root protoplasts (Mou et al., 2020), where GLR3.1, GLR3.2, GLR3.3 and GLR3.6 share the role of ligand-dependent response mediators. To do this, stimulation with 1mM Glu and ACC was done



Figure 3.4. A- Bright field pictures of 7 days old seedlings stimulated with 1mM ACC and Glu. Arrowhead denote application site. Measurements were done 5mm below this point. B- Root hair count and length in Col-0 after application of various amino acids.

in root tips of mutant plant with GLRs knocked out by insertion. The candidates chosen were *glr3.1-2-3-6*, for the previously exposed roles.

Various GLR KOs treated with Glu showed an equal or even greater increase of root hair count and length than the wild type. The mutant *glr3.1-2-3-6* (count:77.6±10.9; length:1.13±0.11mm, *n*=13) presented a significant increase in count and elongation (p<0.05). The increased response of GLR mutants to Glu is counter-intuitive, but it could be explained by compensating over-expression of other GLRs in response to the unbalanced transcription network of the mutants. In contrast, *glr3.7* was the only GLR mutant to have a significant decrease in root hair length, while the count was not altered in comparison to wildtype plants (figure3.5).

Specific functions of GLR3.7 and Ethylene/EIN2 in root hair elongation

ACC increased the amount of root hairs counted and their length (figure 3.4), which agrees with the ethylene induction of trichoblast differentiation, and elongation promotion through the ethylene receptors (Martín-Rejano et al., 2011; Pitts et al., 1998). Also, the application of amino acids increased the amount of root hairs counted. This makes evident a functional overlap of different signals in the differentiation and elongation processes.



In order to resolve the functions of GLR3.7 and EIN2, we observed responses at all the combinations of *glr3.7* and *ein2* stimulated with ACC and Glu (1.0mM). It was clear that GLR3.7 only underlies elongation in responds to Glu and ACC. On the other hand, EIN2 underlies differentiation and, partially, elongation in response to ACC only (figure 3.6-A).

Trichoblast differentiation is mediated by EIN2. After treatment with ACC, there was an increase of root hairs in Col-0 (74.3 \pm 15.3, *n*=10) and *glr3.7*

(63.6±15.6, n=15), but not in *ein2* (45.1±6.1, n=10) (figure 3.6). In contrast, the Glu stimulation enhanced the root hair count in Col-0 (64.7±15.4) only, but not in *ein2* (44.1±7.2, n=9) nor in *glr3.7* (54.7±7.8, n=14). It was observed that the increased root hair count in Col-0 roots treated with Glu raised from the quantification of short root hairs that were not visible in untreated roots but are long enough to be counted in treated roots. Thus, increasing the count in Col-0 but not in *glr3.7*, in which root hairs did not elongate to be counted.

Root hair elongation is impaired in *glr3.7* (1/2MS: 0.13±0.05mm, *n*=14; Glu:0.14±0.05mm, *n*=14; ACC:0.13±0.04mm, n=15). Similarly, in *ein2* root hairs are also shorter (1/2MS:0.16±0.05mm, *n*=15), and do not increase when treated with Glu (0.17±0.05mm, *n*=14), but increase after ACC application (0.22±0.09mm, *n*=10). However, ACC-induced elongation is not enough to recover the length of wildtype root hairs. Then, root hair elongation is directed by GLR3.7, enhanced by exogenous application of either Glu or ACC, but requires the integration of EIN2 activity to fully rescue the wildtype phenotype.

<u>GLR3.7 may regulate elongation through membrane voltage depolarization</u> Apical growth is characterized by the existence of an apical gradient of Ca²⁺, with increase concentration at the root hair tip (Wymer et al., 1997). This gradient is believed to relay on membrane voltage maintenance (Mendrinna and Persson, 2015). Since GLR3.7 and EIN2 influence root hair elongation,



we attempted to determine if both receptors influenced the Ca²⁺ and electric

aspects of elongation. For this we determined the membrane potential of elongating root hairs of *glr3.7*, *ein2*, and Col-0 plants.

Seedlings were incubated in a voltage-sensitive fluorescent dye, Fluovolt, which yields a signal that increases upon membrane depolarization. This technic successfully showed a tip localized depolarization in elongating Col-0 root hairs (figure 3.7-A). The fluorescence at the tip, normalized by subtracting the basal fluorescence of atrichoblasts, was quantified in growing and non-growing root hairs (figure 3.7-B). In Col-0, the fluorescence intensity of growing root hairs (43.36 ± 32.53 AU, n=94) was significantly higher in comparison to mature, non-growing ones (10.84 ± 29.82 AU, n=79). In *ein2* plants, growing root hairs (-10.84 ± 34.36 AU, n=62).

In contrast, all the root hairs of *glr3.7* plants had the same signal as nongrowing root hairs. Hairs in the root zone where there should be elongation have low signal (13.35±12.42 AU, *n*=89), not significantly different from mature root hairs in *glr3.7* (-5.64±18.17 AU, *n*=57), *ein2* or Col-0. This shows that GLR3.7 regulates root hair elongation by sustaining proper membrane depolarization at the tip, while EIN2 mediates other aspect of tip growth.



С

В





Figure 3.7. Relative membrane voltage of root hairs. A- Overlay of confocal fluorescent (green) and brightfield images of elongating Col-0 root hair after incubation in FluoVolt. B- Fluorescent imaging of growing and mature root hairs of Col-0, ein2, and glr3.7 plants after 1h incubation in Fluovolt. B- Maximum pixel intensity at root hair tips subtracted from the signal of atrichoblasts. (Asterisk p<0.005, Student's ttest).

Discussion

Despite the functional redundancy of GLRs, we were able to identify GLR3.7 as a receptor that leads elongation in *Arabidopsis* root hairs and sustains proper depolarization at the root hair tip. The elongation process is enhanced by exogenous amino acid application independently of the differentiation and initiation phases. As reported in literature, we confirm that the ethylene sensing pathway protein EIN2 also regulates root hair elongation and propose a model of interaction between GLR3.7 and EIN2 in this process.

Root hair elongation is potentiated by amino acids

Root hairs presented stronger elongation after application of proteinogenic amino acids, being the strongest response that to Glu. Given that the Glu solution is obtained by aqueous dilution of glutamic acid, the pH of the 1/2 MS solution containing 1mM Glu had to be carefully buffered to 5.7, given that it is the optimal pH for root hair elongation (Bibikova et al., 1998).

Furthermore, the presence of proteins in the growing medium promotes root hair elongation at a concentration of 5-20 μ M, but inhibits it above 45 μ M. This regulation is independent of the hormones auxin and ethylene (Lonhienne et al., 2014). Also, 50µM Glu applied at the tip of a root is enough to arrest root growth (Walch-Liu et al., 2006), but the roots in the presented experimental setup, whether shorter, continue to grow and present root hair elongation, indicating that the effective concentration of Glu is significantly lower than the 1mM originally applied. It is necessary to experimentally determine the effective concentration required to induce this response, as the current experimental setup is insufficient in that regard.

The current research determines that the GLR mediated root hair elongation requires the activity of ethylene to mediate full root hair length. However, it does not approach the interaction of GLR3.7 with the auxin signaling pathway, a known regulator or root hair elongation. This is an important factor in the control network of this developmental process and should be investigated in further research.

GLR3.7 drives root hair elongation through membrane voltage

The root hairs of the mutant plant glr3.7 initiate and bulge, a process potentiated by exogenous ethylene, similar to wild type. However, differentiated root hairs do not elongate even in the presence of amino acids or ethylene, indicating that the activity of GLR3.7 occurs downstream of cell fate determination and the initiation cue of the RSL family proteins, auxin and ethylene.

The activity of GLR3.7 sustaining root hair elongation agrees with this channel's role in pollen tube elongation (Michard et al., 2011). Likewise, GLR1.2 was also identified as a regulator of pollen tube elongation through the maintenance of Ca²⁺ gradients in these elongating cells (Michard et al., 2011). It is likely that GLR3.7 also regulated root hair growth through the maintenance of the Ca²⁺ gradient at the tip. This is supported by (1) the expression of GLR3.7 at the root hair tip membrane, (2) the disruption of root hair membrane voltage in *glr3.7* plants, (3) the increased elongation elicited by exogenous Glu, and (4) the Ca²⁺-containing currents that are potentiated by Glu in heterologous cells expressing GLR3.7 (Simon, et.al., under review).

In and *glr3.1-2-3-6* knockouts, the response to amino acids is opposite to that of *glr3.7*: root hair length increases. This result is counter-intuitive and not easy to explain, except by recurring to generic explanations like functional redundancy of GLRs and possible overexpression of GLR3.7 in the absence of other members of the family, or genetic compensation through other channels. Substantiating these hypotheses would require further investigation.

Root hair elongation is promoted by exogenous application of ACC, which could also activate GLR currents. It has been shown that GLR3.6, and GLR3.3 to a less extent, potentiate ionic currents of root cell protoplast in the presence of ACC (Mou et al., 2020). It is not known whether GLR3.7 can also be directly activated by ACC. But the exploration of how GLR3.7 affects those GLR3.3/6 ACC-triggered currents *in planta* might lead to physiological understanding of the gain of function by heteromerization of GLRs proposed by Simon et.al. (under review).

Furthermore, the considerably greater effect of ACC on elongation might be explained by its stronger potentiation than Glu of GLR mediated currents. Although possible, this does not explain the strongly decreased ACC-induced growth in *ein2* plants, which is suggestive of a cross talk between GLR and ethylene signaling.

EIN2 is regulated by GLR3.7 action to potentiate root hair elongation

Ethylene induces root hair elongation through EIN2 (Martín-Rejano et al., 2011; Pitts et al., 1998). Here we show that mutant *ein2* plants do present elongation, but it is diminished in comparison to the wildtype, indicating that EIN2 is not necessary for elongation but does enhance it.

Root hair elongation is associated with apical Ca^{2+} oscillations (Candeo et al., 2017; Wymer et al., 1997), a process that occurs during elongation in a solution and in the air, which raised the hypothesis that Ca^{2+} source can be extracellular from the surrounding solution, from the newly deposited cell wall, or internal from intracellular stores (Mendrinna and Persson, 2015). EIN2 is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum (Alonso et al., 1999), and the activity of the ethylene signaling pathway through EIN2 has been related to permeation of metals, and specifically Ca^{2+} flux across internal membranes (Laohavisit and Davies, 2007; Petruzzelli et al., 2003). This Ca^{2+} regulator could act in parallel with GLR3.7 and complement its activity to support the proper Ca^{2+} oscillations that maintain root hair elongation.

However, the data here reported makes evident that GLR3.7 and EIN2 activities are not equally important. Amino acids induce root hair growth through GLR3.7 even in the absence of EIN2. On the contrary, without GLR3.7 there is absolutely no elongation, despite the presence of EIN2 (figure3.6-B).

Based on this evidence, we hypothesize that the complementation and crossstalk of the two parallel Ca^{2+} regulators promote root hair elongation, a link that has been reported in wounded epidermal cells that present transient depolarization followed by ethylene increase (Marhavý et al., 2019). On one hand, amino acids signal membrane depolarization through GLR3.7-containing channels, which can be directly mediate by Ca^{2+} influx through GLR3.7, or indirectly through anion-carried depolarization that activates voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channels. On the other hand, ethylene signaling, via EIN2, activates intracellular Ca^{2+} movement that contributes to its proper homeostasis. This explains the stronger effect of ACC on root hair elongation, since it can boost the activity of the GLR pathway and the EIN2 pathway when converted to ethylene.

Finally, ethylene signaling is necessary for root hair elongation, but it is not sufficient; while GLR3.7 is both necessary and sufficient. The absence of elongation when EIN2 is present but GLR3.7 is not, suggests that the GLR signal is necessary for the EIN2 activity to occur. This putative coincidence detector could ensure the proper timing of root hair elongation because it integrates the ethylene signal existing from the differentiation and initiation stages, and a novel cue that triggers growth. Hence avoiding membrane deposition in an atrichoblast or a non-bulged trichoblast.

Methods

Plant material

Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 and *glr3.7* (Salk_103942) were obtained from the Salk institute (La Jolla, CA, USA). *glr3.1-2-3-6* was developed and obtained from Edward Farmer (University of Lausanne, Switzerland). *Ein2* was obtained from Caren Chang (University of Maryland, USA). An *Arabidopsis* line was transformed with a GLR3.7::GFP linked construct under the expression of the endogenous promoter of GLR3.7.

Seeds were surface sterilized and sown on petri dished 0.8% agar with half strength Murashige-Skoog salt, and then stratified in 4° C for 24 hours. The plates were then subjected to a light/dark regime of 16:8 at 20° C in a vertical position to allow roots to grow in a linear manner. 7-10 days old plants were used for data acquisition.

Membrane potential measurements

Membrane potential measurements were made by extracellular recordings in current-clamp mode. The root tip was first hydrated for 20 minutes with liquid 1/2MS (pH 5.7) prior to impalement. The dishes were placed on an inverted microscope and cells from the cortical cell layer, \approx 15 µm deep into the tissue, were impaled at \approx 2mm above the root tip. Only cells that presented a resting membrane potential below -120mV were used for stimulation. The impalement was done with a sharp electrode, resistance >100MΩ, filled with 3M KCl. Pipettes were pulled using a P97 puller (Sutter Instrument, Novato, CA, USA). The membrane voltage was tracked at a sampling frequency of 2-4 kHz and filtered at 1-2 kHz using an Axopatch 200A amplifier with an Axon 1200 DigiData analog-to-digital converter and pCLAMP software (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

The tissue stimulus was applied with a 1μ l drop delivered by a 1mm thick capillary placed at the tip of the root and controlled by a CellTram microinjector (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). Treatments of D- mannitol and L-Glu (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) were applied at 1mM on liquid 1/2MS and balanced to pH5.7 with BTP.

Amino acid stimulation

Roots of seedlings between 7 – 10 days old were stimulated with 5µl of D-Serine, L-Cysteine, L-Asparagine, 1-Aminocyclopropano-1-carboxylic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), L-Glutamic Acid, L-Serine, L-Methionine (Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH, USA), balanced to pH5.7, and diluted to 1mM or 0.1mM in half strength Murashige-Skoog salt pH 5.7.

Root hair imaging

Observation of roots was done using an MVX-ZB10 Olympus stereozoom (Olympus America Inc., MA, USA). Bright field illumination was provided by a Schott KL300 LED white light casted parallel to the root growth. Image acquisition was done with a Hamamatsu Flash4.0 V3 sCMOS digital camera at a magnification of 15x. Confocal images were obtained using a Zeiss LSM 980 confocal Airyscan2.

Membrane voltage imaging

Roots of seedlings between 7-10 days old were imbibed in 200µl half strength Murashige-Skoog salts pH5.7 with 4µl Power Load and 0.5µl FluoVolt (Waltham, MA, USA) during 1 hour prior to imaging.

Fluorescence observation was done in an MVX-ZB10 Olympus stereozoom (Olympus America Inc., MA, USA). Fluorescent illumination was provided by a MVX coaxial fluorescent illuminator with a GFP filter set with excitation: 470/40 nm, dichroic: 495 nm long-pass, emission: 525/50 nm. Image acquisition was done with a Hamamatsu Flash4.0 V3 sCMOS digital camera at a magnification of 126x.

Image analysis

Root hair length, quantity and pixel intensity was determined using FIJI. Pixel intensity was determined as the average of the 10 pixels surrounding the maximum value of a cross section at the tip of the root hair where the dome meet the cylinder that conforms the hair. All data was manipulated and statistically tested in R Core Team (2020) (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/) and SigmaPlot (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA).

General conclusions

The data herein presented postulates GLR3.7 as an important mediator of root hair apical growth and amino acid-triggered electric signaling. The capacity of membrane depolarization is a mechanism common to both phenotypes, and in both cases is impaired in *glr3.7* mutants.

In the case of electric signaling, the glr3.7 mutant presented a response of diminished amplitude when stimulated with Glu (1mM). In this case, we hypothesize that the absence of GLR3.7 in GLR heteromers impairs the proper function of the indispensable channels GLR3.3 and GLR3.6. The diminished conductivity or gating properties would be observed as a diminished cellular response to the ligand stimulus.

Along with this, we demonstrated that the depolarization and cytosolic Ca^{2+} increase that result from ligand stimulation do not propagate from cell to cell and share kinetics with the initial phase of the SWP. This allows us to propose that the chemical propagation theory of SWP accounts only for the initial depolarization and for the Ca^{2+} transient. Also, another stimulus, likely related to the propagation of a hydraulic wave, that complements the ligand-triggered response, and sustains the SWP depolarization for longer is yet to be proposed.

The importance of GLRs in ligand-induced depolarization and Ca^{2+} transient, and the lack of understanding on the ionic species that underlie these signals, makes evident the necessity of understanding the selectivity of the GLRs involved in SWPs. Specifically, GLR3.3/6, and how the interaction with GLR3.7 regulates the selectivity and gating properties. This is essential to direct future research to determine whether the GLR-mediated depolarization is underpinned by Ca^{2+} influx or by anionic efflux, from which further interaction with other channels can be investigated.

Also, to understand the interactions network that produces the SWP, the field is in debt with the genetic identification of the channels implicated with other parts of the signal i.e., voltage dependent anion or Ca^{2+} channels in the depolarization, and voltage dependent K⁺ and H⁺ channels in the repolarization phase, as well as identification of mechanosensitive channels accountable for the transduction of the hydraulic change in SWP propagation.

Similar to the ligand-induced electric response, we demonstrated that the presence of GLR3.7 is necessary for proper membrane depolarization in root

hair elongation. The root hairs of the *glr3.7* mutant did not elongate and also did not present apical depolarization, as did the root hairs of the Col-0 plants.

Moreover, application of Glu promotes longer root hairs in wildtype but not in *glr3.7* plants. It is possible that this stimulus had non-desired effects on root hair development through pH unbalance. Although the pH was carefully buffered, it is important in the future to quantify the pH in root hairs upon Glu stimulation, which could be done with fluorescent pH sensors. Glu can affect the development of roots through the unbalance of protein status

In order to dissect the regulation of root hair elongation by Glu through membrane receptors from that of hormones through metabolic processes, this work studied the interaction between GLRs and the ethylene pathway. However, it is necessary to direct future research towards dissecting these pathways from auxin signaling.

GLR3.7 sustains apical membrane depolarization of elongating root hairs. Nevertheless, it is yet unknown how this affects the Ca^{2+} gradient in tip elongation. It is possible that GLR3.7 is permeable to Ca^{2+} and directly sustains this gradient and depolarization, or it could be sustaining an anionicsustained depolarization to regulate voltage sensitive Ca^{2+} channels. Identification of the GLR3.7 ionic selectivity in root hairs is necessary and will allow the field to understand the feedback loops between membrane potential, cytosolic Ca^{2+} and other membrane channels that sustain the oscillating nature of this gradient.

Altogether, this work postulates GLR3.7 as a contributor to membrane voltage regulation, a process common to chemical signaling and cellular tip growth. Further research is necessary to determine the pore conductance for which GLR3.7 is responsible in each specific case. This will allow the integration of GLR3.7 in the network of channels that support cell signaling and development.

Bibliography

Ache, P., Becker, D., Ivashikina, N., Dietrich, P., Roelfsema, M.R.G., and Hedrich, R. (2000). GORK, a delayed outward rectifier expressed in guard cells of Arabidopsis thaliana, is a K+-selective, K+-sensing ion channel. FEBS Lett. *486*, 93–98.

Acosta, I.F., and Farmer, E.E. (2010). Jasmonates.

Ahmed, M.A., Kroener, E., Holz, M., Zarebanadkouki, M., and Carminati,A. (2014). Mucilage exudation facilitates root water uptake in dry soils.

Funct. Plant Biol. 41, 1129–1137.

Alfieri, A., Doccula, F.G., Pederzoli, R., Grenzi, M., Bonza, M.C., Luoni,

L., Candeo, A., Armada, N.R., Barbiroli, A., Valentini, G., et al. (2020). The structural bases for agonist diversity in an Arabidopsis thaliana glutamate receptor-like channel. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *117*, 752–760.

Alonso, J.M., Hirayama, T., Roman, G., Nourizadeh, S., and Ecker, J.R.

(1999). EIN2, a Bifunctional Transducer of Ethylene and Stress Responses in Arabidopsis.

Ayling, S.M., Brownlee, C., and Clarkson, D.T. (1994). The Cytoplasmic Streaming Response of Tomato Root Hairs to Auxin; Observations of Cytosolic Calcium Levels. J. Plant Physiol. 143, 184–188.

Baluška, F., Salaj, J., Mathur, J., Braun, M., Jasper, F., Šamaj, J., Chua, N.H., Barlow, P.W., and Volkmann, D. (2000). Root hair formation: F-actindependent tip growth is initiated by local assembly of profilin-supported Factin meshworks accumulated within expansin-enriched bulges. Dev. Biol. 227, 618–632.

Bascom, C.S., Winship, L.J., and Bezanilla, M. (2018). Simultaneous
imaging and functional studies reveal a tight correlation between calcium
and actin networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *115*, E2869–E2878.
Becker, J.D., Takeda, S., Borges, F., Dolan, L., and Feijó, J.A. (2014).
Transcriptional profiling of Arabidopsis root hairs and pollen defines an
apical cell growth signature. BMC Plant Biol. *14*, 1–14.

Beilby, M.J. (2007). Action Potential in Charophytes. Int. Rev. Cytol. 257, 43–82.

Beilby, M.J., and Al Khazaaly, S. (2016). Re-modeling Chara action potential: I. from Thiel model of Ca2+transient to action potential form. AIMS Biophys. *3*, 431–449.

Berger, F., Hung, C.Y., Dolan, L., and Schiefelbein, J. (1998). Control of cell division in the root epidermis of Arabidopsis thaliana. Dev. Biol. *194*, 235–245.

Bezanilla, M., and Perroud, P.-F. (2018). Tip Growth in the Moss Physcomitrella Patens . Annu. Plant Rev. Online *36*, 143–166.

Bibikova, T.N., Zhigilei, A., and Gilroy, S. (1997). Root hair growth in Arabidopsis thaliana is directed by calcium and an endogenous polarity. Planta *203*, 495–505.

Bibikova, T.N., Jacob, T., Dahse, I., and Gilroy, S. (1998). Localized changes in apoplastic and cytoplasmic pH are associated with root hair development in Arabidopsis thaliana. Development *125*, 2925–2934.
Bibikova, T.N., Blancaflor, E.B., and Gilroy, S. (1999). Microtubules regulate tip growth and orientation in root hairs of Arabidopsis thaliana.
Plant J. *17*, 657–665.

Blatt, M.R., and Thiel, G. (1994). K+ channels of stomatal guard cells: bimodal control of the K+ inward-rectifier evoked by auxin. Plant J. 5, 55– 68.

Bortoli, S. De, Teardo, E., Szabò, I., Morosinotto, T., and Alboresi, A. (2016). Biophysical Chemistry Evolutionary insight into the ionotropic glutamate receptor superfamily of photosynthetic organisms. Biophys. Chem. *218*, 14–26.

Bose, M, A. (1913). An automatic Method for the investigation of Velocity of Transmission of Excitation in Mimosa. *244*, 1–3.

Bose, J.C. (1926). The nervous mechanism of plants /. Nerv. Mech. Plants /.

Bruex, A., Kainkaryam, R.M., Wieckowski, Y., Kang, Y.H., Bernhardt, C.,

Xia, Y., Zheng, X., Wang, J.Y., Lee, M.M., Benfey, P., et al. (2012). A gene regulatory network for root epidermis cell differentiation in Arabidopsis.

PLoS Genet. 8.

Burdon, J., and Sanderson, M, D. (1873). Note on the electrical Phenomena which accompany irritation of the leaf of Dionea muscipula. 495–496. Campanoni, P., and Blatt, M.R. (2007). Membrane trafficking and polar growth in root hairs and pollen tubes. J. Exp. Bot. *58*, 65–74.

Candeo, A., Doccula, F.G., Valentini, G., Bassi, A., and Costa, A. (2017).
Light Sheet Fluorescence Microscopy Quantifies Calcium Oscillations in
Root Hairs of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol. *58*, 1161–1172.
Chiu, J., DeSalle, R., Lam, H.M., Meisel, L., and Coruzzi, G. (1999).
Molecular evolution of glutamate receptors: A primitive signaling
mechanism that existed before plants and animals diverged. Mol. Biol. Evol. *16*, 826–838.

Chiu, J.C., Brenner, E.D., DeSalle, R., Nitabach, M.N., Holmes, T.C., and Coruzzi, G.M. (2002). Phylogenetic and expression analysis of the glutamate-receptor-like gene family in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol. Biol. Evol. *19*, 1066–1082. Cho, D., Kim, S.A., Murata, Y., Lee, S., Jae, S.K., Nam, H.G., and Kwak,

J.M. (2009). De-regulated expression of the plant glutamate receptor

homolog AtGLR3.1 impairs long-term Ca2+-programmed stomatal closure. Plant J. 58, 437–449.

Cole, B.Y.K.S., and Curtis, H.J. (1938). Electric impedance of nitella during activity. 37–64.

Cole, K.S., and Curtis, H.J. (1939). Electric impedance of the squid giant axon during activity. J. Gen. Physiol. 22, 649–670.

Coleman, H.A. (1986). Chloride currents in Chara-A patch-clamp study. J. Membr. Biol. *93*, 55–61.

Cuin, T.A., Dreyer, I., and Michard, E. (2018). The role of potassium channels in arabidopsis thaliana long distance electrical signalling: AKT2 modulates tissue excitability while GORK shapes action potentials. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *19*, 1–17.

Darwin, C. (1875). Insectivorous plants.

Datta, S., Prescott, H., and Dolan, L. (2015). Intensity of a pulse of RSL4 transcription factor synthesis determines Arabidopsis root hair cell size. Nat. Plants *1*, 1–6.

Davenport, R. (2002). Glutamate receptors in plants. Ann. Bot. *90*, 549–557. Demidchik, V., Essah, P.A., and Tester, M. (2004). Glutamate activates

cation currents in the plasma membrane of Arabidopsis root cells. Planta *219*, 167–175.

Dennison, K.L., and Spalding, E.P. (2000). Glutamate-Gated Calcium Fluxes in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. *124*, 1511–1514.

Dietrich, P., and Hedrich, R. (1998). Anions permeate and gate GCAC1, a voltage-dependent guard cell anion channel. Plant J. *15*, 479–487.

Dietrich, P., Moeder, W., and Yoshioka, K. (2020). Plant cyclic nucleotidegated channels: New insights on their functions and regulation1[OPEN]. Plant Physiol. *184*, 27–38.

Dolan, L. (2001). The role of ethylene in root hair growth in Arabidopsis. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. *164*, 141–145.

Dolan, L., Duckett, C.M., Grierson, C., Linstead, P., Schneider, K., Lawson,
E., Dean, C., Poethig, S., and Roberts, K. (1994). Clonal relationships and
cell patterning in the root epidermis of Arabidopsis. Development *120*,
2465–2474.

Duan, Q., Kita, D., Li, C., Cheung, A.Y., and Wu, H.M. (2010). FERONIA receptor-like kinase regulates RHO GTPase signaling of root hair development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 17821–17826. Emons, A.M.C., and Ketelaar, T. (2009). Root Hairs.

Eshel, A., and Beeckman, T. (2013). Plant roots the hidden half.

Etherton, B., and Rubinstein, B. (1978). Evidence for Amino Acid-H + Co-Transport in Oat Coleoptiles . Plant Physiol. *61*, 933–937.

Farmer, E.E., Gasperini, D., and Acosta, I.F. (2014). The squeeze cell hypothesis for the activation of jasmonate synthesis in response to wounding. J. Physiol. *204*, 282–288.

Farmer, E.E., Gao, Y., Lenzoni, G., Wolfender, J., and Wu, Q. (2020). Wound- and mechano-stimulated electrical signals control hormone responses. New Phytol.

Feijó, J.A., and Wudick, M.M. (2018). "Calcium is life." J. Exp. Bot. 69, 4147–4150.

Feijó, J.A., Costa, S.S., Prado, A.M., Becker, J.D., and Certal, A.C. (2004).Signalling by tips. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 7, 589–598.

Felle, H.H., and Zimmermann, M.R. (2007). Systemic signalling in barley through action potentials. Planta 226, 203–214.

Feng, W., Kita, D., Peaucelle, A., Cartwright, H.N., Doan, V., Duan, Q.,

Liu, M.C., Maman, J., Steinhorst, L., Schmitz-Thom, I., et al. (2018). The

FERONIA Receptor Kinase Maintains Cell-Wall Integrity during Salt Stress

through Ca2+ Signaling. Curr. Biol. 28, 666-675.e5.

Feng, Y., Xu, P., Li, B., Li, P., Wen, X., An, F., Gong, Y., Xin, Y., Zhu, Z.,

Wang, Y., et al. (2017). Ethylene promotes root hair growth through

coordinated EIN3/EIL1 and RHD6/RSL1 activity in Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *114*, 13834–13839.

Forde, B.G., and Lea, P.J. (2007). Glutamate in plants: Metabolism, regulation, and signalling. J. Exp. Bot. *58*, 2339–2358.

Frietsch, S., Wang, Y.F., Sladek, C., Poulsen, L.R., Romanowsky, S.M.,

Schroeder, J.I., and Harper, J.F. (2007). A cyclic nucleotide-gated channel is essential for polarized tip growth of pollen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 14531–14536.

Fromm, J., and Lautner, S. (2007). Electrical signals and their physiological significance in plants. Plant, Cell Environ. *30*, 249–257.

Galway, M., Masucci, J., Lloyd, A., Walbot, V., Davis, R., and Schiefelbein, J.W. (1994). The TTG gene is required to specify epidermal cell fate and cell patterning in the arabidopsis root.

Gangwar, S.P., Green, M.N., Michard, E., Simon, A.A., Feijó, J.A., and Sobolevsky, A.I. (2020). Structure of the Arabidopsis Glutamate Receptor-

like Channel GLR3.2 Ligand-Binding Domain. Structure 1–9.

Gil, P.M., Gurovich, L., Schaffer, B., Alcayaga, J., Rey, S., and Iturriaga, R.

(2008). Root to leaf electrical signaling in avocado in response to light and

soil water content. J. Plant Physiol. 165, 1070–1078.

Gil, P.M., Saavedra, J., Schaffer, B., Navarro, R., Fuentealba, C., and

Minoletti, F. (2014). Quantifying effects of irrigation and soil water content on electrical potentials in grapevines (Vitis vinifera) using multivariate statistical methods. Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam). *173*, 71–78.

Green, M.N., Gangwar, S.P., Michard, E., Barbosa-Caro, J., Wudick, M.,

Portes, M.T., Simon, A.A., Klykov, O., Yelshanskaya, M., Feijó, J.A., et al.

(2021). Structure of the Arabidopsis thaliana Glutamate Receptor-Like Channel GLR3.4.

Grierson, C., Nielsen, E., Ketelaarc, T., and Schiefelbein, J. (2014). Root Hairs. Arab. B.

Guerringue, Y., Thomine, S., and Frachisse, J.M. (2018). Sensing and transducing forces in plants with MSL10 and DEK1 mechanosensors. FEBS Lett. *592*, 1968–1979.

Haswell, E.S., Peyronnet, R., Barbier-Brygoo, H., Meyerowitz, E.M., and
Frachisse, J.M. (2008). Two MscS Homologs Provide Mechanosensitive
Channel Activities in the Arabidopsis Root. Curr. Biol. *18*, 730–734.
Hedrich, R., Salvador-Recatalà, V., and Dreyer, I. (2016). Electrical Wiring
and Long-Distance Plant Communication. Trends Plant Sci. *21*, 376–387.
Hille, B. (2001). Ion Channels of Excitable Membranes (Sunderland:
Sinauer Associates).

Hodgkin, A.L., and Huxley, A.F. (1939). Action Potentials Recorded from

Inside a Nerve Fibre. 710–711.

Hollmann, M., O'Shea-Greenfield, A., Rogers, S.W., and Heinemann, S. (1989). Cloning by functional expression of a member of the glutamate receptor family. Nature *342*, 643–648.

Homann, U., and Thiel, G. (1994). Cl and K channel currents during the Action Potential in Chara. Simultaneous Recording of Membrane Voltage and Patch Currents. *309*, 297–309.

Honkanen, S., and Dolan, L. (2016). Growth regulation in tip-growing cells that develop on the epidermis. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. *34*, 77–83.

Houwink, A. (1935). The Conduction of Excitation in Mimosa pudica. Recl. Des Trav. Bot. Néerlandais *35*, 51–91.

Huber, A.E., and Bauerle, T.L. (2016). Long-distance plant signalingpathways in response to multiple stressors: The gap in knowledge. J. Exp.Bot. 67, 2063–2079.

Imes, D., Mumm, P., Böhm, J., Al-Rasheid, K.A.S., Marten, I., Geiger, D., and Hedrich, R. (2013). Open stomata 1 (OST1) kinase controls R-type anion channel QUAC1 in Arabidopsis guard cells. Plant J. *74*, 372–382.
Iwano, M., Ito, K., Fujii, S., Kakita, M., Asano-Shimosato, H., Igarashi, M., Kaothien-Nakayama, P., Entani, T., Kanatani, A., Takehisa, M., et al. (2015). Calcium signalling mediates self-incompatibility response in the

Brassicaceae. Nat. Plants 1, 1–8.

Jin, R., Singh, S.K., Gu, S., Furukawa, H., Sobolevsky, A.I., Zhou, J., Jin, Y., and Gouaux, E. (2009). Crystal structure and association behaviour of the GluR2 amino-terminal domain. EMBO J. *28*, 1812–1823.

Kandel, E.R., Scwartz, J.H., Jessell, T.M., Siegelbaum, S.A., and Hudspeth, A.J. (2013). Principles of neural science.

Kang, J., Mehta, S., and Turano, F.J. (2004). The putative glutamate receptor

1.1 r egulates Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis and Signaling to ControlDevelopment and Water Loss. Small 45, 1380–1389.

Karol, K.G., McCourt, R.M., Cimino, M.T., and Delwiche, C.F. (2001). The closest living relatives of land plants. Science (80-.). 294, 2351–2353.

Ketelaar, T. (2013). The actin cytoskeleton in root hairs: All is fine at the tip. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. *16*, 749–756.

Ketelaar, T., Galway, M.E., Mulder, B.M., and Emons, A.M.C. (2008). Rates of exocytosis and endocytosis in Arabidopsis root hairs and pollen tubes. J. Microsc. *231*, 265–273.

Kim, S.A., Kwak, J.M., Jae, S.K., Wang, M.H., and Nam, H.G. (2001).

Overexpression of the AtGluR2 gene encoding an arabidopsis homolog of mammalian glutamate receptors impairs calcium utilization and sensitivity to ionic stress in transgenic plants. Plant Cell Physiol. *42*, 74–84.
Kong, D., Ju, C., Parihar, A., Kim, S., Cho, D., and Kwak, J.M. (2015).

Arabidopsis glutamate receptor homolog3.5 modulates cytosolic Ca2+ level to counteract effect of abscisic acid in seed germination. Plant Physiol. *167*, 1630–1642.

Kreslavski, V.D., Carpentier, R., Klimov, V. V., and Allakhverdiev, S.I. (2009). Transduction mechanisms of photoreceptor signals in plant cells. J.

Photochem. Photobiol. C Photochem. Rev. 10, 63–80.

Kuner, T., Seeburg, P.H., and Guy, H.R. (2003). A common architecture for K+ channels and ionotropic glutamate receptors? Trends Neurosci. *26*, 27–32.

Kwaaitaal, M., Huisman, R., Maintz, J., Reinstadler, A., and Panstruga, R. (2011). Ionotropic glutamate receptor (iGluR)-like channels mediate MAMP-induced calcium influx in Arabidopsis thaliana. Biochem. J. 440, 355–365.

Kwak, S.H., and Schiefelbein, J. (2008). A Feedback Mechanism Controlling SCRAMBLED Receptor Accumulation and Cell-Type Pattern in Arabidopsis. Curr. Biol. *18*, 1949–1954.

Lam, H.M., Chiu, J., Ming-Hsiu, H., Meisel, L., Oliveira, I.C., Shin, M., and Coruzzi, G. (1998). Glutamate-receptor genes in plants. *396*, 125–126. Laohavisit, A., and Davies, J.M. (2007). The Gas that Opens Gates :

Calcium Channel Activation by Ethylene Published by : Wiley on behalf of the New Phytologist Trust Linked references are available on JSTOR for this article : calcium channel activation The gas that opens gates : by ethylene. *174*, 470–473.

Lassig, R., Gutermuth, T., Bey, T.D., Konrad, K.R., and Romeis, T. (2014). Pollen tube NAD(P)H oxidases act as a speed control to dampen growth rate oscillations during polarized cell growth. Plant J. 78, 94–106.

Lee, M.M., and Schiefelbein, J. (1999). WEREWOLF, a MYB-related protein in Arabidopsis, is a position-dependent regulator of epidermal cell patterning. Cell *99*, 473–483.

Lee, M.M., and Schiefelbein, J. (2002). Cell pattern in the Arabidopsis root epidermis determined by lateral inhibition with feedback. Plant Cell *14*, 611–618.

Leyser, O., Bryan, P., Dharmasiri, S., and Estelle, M. (1996). Mutations in the AXR3 gene of Arabidopsis result in altered auxin response including ecopic expression from the SAUR-AC1.

Li, F., Wang, J., Ma, C., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Hasi, A., and Qi, Z. (2013). Glutamate receptor-like channel3.3 is involved in mediating glutathionetriggered cytosolic calcium transients, transcriptional changes, and innate immunity responses in arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. *162*, 1497–1509.

103

Lin, Y., and Schiefelbein, J. (2001). Embryonic control of epidermal cell patterning in the root and hypocotyl of Arabidopsis. Development *128*, 3697–3705.

Linskens, H.F., and Spanjers, A.W. (1973). Changes of electrical potential in the transmitting tissue of Petunia styles after cross- and self-pollination. Incompat. Newsletters *3*.

Lonhienne, T.G.A., Trusov, Y., Young, A., Rentsch, D., Näsholm, T., Schmidt, S., and Paungfoo-Lonhienne, C. (2014). Effects of externally supplied protein on root morphology and biomass allocation in Arabidopsis. Sci. Rep. *4*, 1–8.

Lu, G., Wang, X., Liu, J., Yu, K., Gao, Y., Liu, H., Wang, C., Wang, W.,

Wang, G., Liu, M., et al. (2014). Application of T-DNA activation tagging to identify glutamate receptor-like genes that enhance drought tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Rep. *33*, 617–631.

Maksaev, G., and Haswell, E.S. (2012). MscS-Like10 is a stretch-activated ion channel from Arabidopsis thaliana with a preference for anions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 19015–19020.

Manzoor, H., Kelloniemi, J., Chiltz, A., Wendehenne, D., Pugin, A.,

Poinssot, B., and Garcia-Brugger, A. (2013). Involvement of the glutamate receptor AtGLR3.3 in plant defense signaling and resistance to

Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis. Plant J. 76, 466–480.

Marhavý, P., Kurenda, A., Siddique, S., Dénervaud Tendon, V., Zhou, F., Holbein, J., Hasan, M.S., Grundler, F.M., Farmer, E.E., and Geldner, N. (2019). Single-cell damage elicits regional, nematode-restricting ethylene responses in roots. EMBO J. *38*.

Martín-Rejano, E.M., Camacho-Cristóbal, J.J., Herrera-Rodríguez, M.B.,

Rexach, J., Navarro-Gochicoa, M.T., and González-Fontes, A. (2011).

Auxin and ethylene are involved in the responses of root system architecture

to low boron supply in Arabidopsis seedlings. Physiol. Plant. 142, 170–178.

Martina, M., and Taverna, S. (2014). Patch-Clamp methods and protocols.

Masucci, J.D., and Schiefelbein, J.W. (1996). Hormones act downstream of

TTG and GL2 to promote root hair outgrowth during epidermis development in the Arabidopsis root. Plant Cell *8*, 1505–1517.

Mendrinna, A., and Persson, S. (2015). Root hair growth: It's a one way street. F1000Prime Rep. 7, 1–6.

Meyer, S., Mumm, P., Imes, D., Endler, A., Weder, B., Al-Rasheid, K.A.S., Geiger, D., Marten, I., Martinoia, E., and Hedrich, R. (2010). AtALMT12 represents an R-type anion channel required for stomatal movement in Arabidopsis guard cells. Plant J. *63*, 1054–1062.

Michard, E., Lima, P.T., Borges, F., Silva, A.C., Portes, M.T., Carvalho,

J.E., Gilliham, M., Liu, L.-H., Obermeyer, G., and Feijó, J.A. (2011). Glutamate receptor-like genes form Ca2+ channels in pollen ubes and are regulated by pistil D-serine. Science (80-.). *332*, 434–437.

Miedema, H., Demidchik, V., Véry, A.A., Bothwell, J.H.F., Brownlee, C., and Davies, J.M. (2008). Two voltage-dependent calcium channels co-exist in the apical plasma membrane of Arabidopsis thaliana root hairs. New Phytol. *179*, 378–385.

Miller, N.D., Brooks, T.L.D., Assadi, A.H., and Spalding, E.P. (2010). Detection of a gravitropism phenotype in glutamate receptor-like 3.3 mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana using machine vision and computation. Genetics *186*, 585–593.

Mól, R., Filek, M., Dumas, C., and Matthys-Rochon, E. (2004). Cytoplasmic calcium in silk trichomes after pollen grain reception and post-pollination changes of the electric potential in pistil tissues of maize. Plant Sci. *166*, 1461–1469.

Monshausen, G.B., and Haswell, E.S. (2013). A force of nature: Molecular mechanisms of mechanoperception in plants. J. Exp. Bot. *64*, 4663–4680. Mou, W., Kao, Y.T., Michard, E., Simon, A.A., Li, D., Wudick, M.M., Lizzio, M.A., Feijó, J.A., and Chang, C. (2020). Ethylene-independent signaling by the ethylene precursor ACC in Arabidopsis ovular pollen tube attraction. Nat. Commun. 11, 1–11.

Mousavi, S.A.R., Chauvin, A., Pascaud, F., Kellenberger, S., and Farmer, E.E. (2013). GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR-LIKE genes mediate leaf-to-leaf wound signalling. Nature *500*, 422–426.

Mumm, P., Imes, D., Martinoia, E., Al-Rasheid, K.A.S., Geiger, D., Marten,
I., and Hedrich, R. (2013). C-terminus-mediated voltage gating of
arabidopsis guard cell anion channel QUAC1. Mol. Plant *6*, 1550–1563.
Nguyen, C.T., Stolz, S., Kurenda, A., Chételat, A., and Farmer, E.E. (2018).
Identification of cell populations necessary for leaf-to-leaf electrical
signaling in a wounded plant. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *115*, 10178–10183.
Nilius, B. (2003). Pflügers Archiv and the advent of modern
electrophysiology: From the first action potential to patch clamp. Pflugers
Arch. Eur. J. Physiol. *447*, 267–271.

Oades, J.M. (1978). Mucilages At the Root Surface. J. Soil Sci. 29, 1–16. Ortiz-Ramírez, C., Michard, E., Simon, A.A., Damineli, D.S.C., Hernández-Coronado, M., Becker, J.D., and Feijó, J.A. (2017). GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR-LIKE channels are essential for chemotaxis and reproduction in mosses. Nature *549*, 91–95.

Patel, N., Mohd-Radzman, N.A., Corcilius, L., Crossett, B., Connolly, A.,

Cordwell, S.J., Ivanovici, A., Taylor, K., Williams, J., Binos, S., et al.

(2018). Diverse peptide hormones affecting root growth identified in the Medicago truncatula secreted peptidome. Mol. Cell. Proteomics *17*, 160–174.

Pei, W., Du, F., Zhang, Y., He, T., and Ren, H. (2012). Control of the actin cytoskeleton in root hair development. Plant Sci. *187*, 10–18.

Petruzzelli, L., Sturaro, M., Mainieri, D., and Leubner-Metzger, G. (2003). Calcium requirement for ethylene-dependent responses involving 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid oxidase in radicle tissues of germinated pea seeds. Plant, Cell Environ. *26*, 661–671.

Piccolino, M. (1997). Luigi Galvani and animal electricity: Two centuries after the foundation of electrophysiology. Trends Neurosci. *20*, 443–448.

Pitts, R.J., Cernac, A., and Estelle, M. (1998). Auxin and ethylene promote root hair elongation in Arabidopsis. Plant J. *16*, 553–560.

Plieth, C., Sattelmacher, B., Hansen, U.P., and Thiel, G. (1998). The action potential in Chara: Ca2+ release from internal stores visualized by Mn2+- induced quenching of fura-dextran. Plant J. *13*, 167–175.

Price, M.B., and Okumoto, S. (2013). Inter-subunit interactions between

Glutamate-Like Receptors in Arabidopsis. Plant Signal. Behav. 8.

Price, M.B., Jelesko, J., and Okumoto, S. (2012). Glutamate receptor

homologs in plants: Functions and evolutionary origins. Front. Plant Sci. 3,

1–10.

Procko, C., Murthy, S.E., Keenan, W.T., Mousavi, S.A.R., Dabi, T.,

Coombs, A., Procko, E., Baird, L., Patapoutian, A., and Chory, J. (2020). Stretch-activated ion channels identified in the touch-sensitive structures of carnivorous Droseraceae plants. BioRxiv 1–24.

Proust, H., Honkanen, S., Jones, V.A.S., Morieri, G., Prescott, H., Kelly, S., Ishizaki, K., Kohchi, T., and Dolan, L. (2016). RSL Class i Genes Controlled the Development of Epidermal Structures in the Common Ancestor of Land Plants. Curr. Biol. *26*, 93–99.

Qi, Z., Stephens, N.R., and Spalding, E.P. (2006). Calcium Entry Mediated by GLR3.3, an Arabidopsis Glutamate Receptor with a Broad Agonist Profile. Plant Physiol. *142*, 963–971.

Raschke, K., Shabahang, M., and Wolf, R. (2003). The slow and the quick anion conductance in whole guard cells: Their voltage-dependent alternation, and the modulation of their activities by abscisic acid and CO2. Planta *217*, 639–650.

Rhodes, J.D., Thain, J.F., and Wildon, D.C. (1999). Evidence for physically distinct systemic signalling pathways in the wounded tomato plant. Ann. Bot. *84*, 109–116.

Riedelsberger, J., Dreyer, I., and Gonzalez, W. (2015). Outward rectification

of voltage-gated K+ channels evolved at least twice in life history. PLoS One *10*, 1–17.

Roblin, G. (1985). Analysis of the variation potential induced by wounding in plants. Plant Cell Physiol. *26*, 455–461.

Roelfsema, M.R.G., Hedrich, R., and Geiger, D. (2012). Anion channels:

Master switches of stress responses. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 221–229.

Savage, N., Yang, T.J.W., Chen, C.Y., Lin, K.L., Monk, N.A.M., and

Schmidt, W. (2013). Positional Signaling and Expression of ENHANCER

OF TRY AND CPC1 Are Tuned to Increase Root Hair Density in Response

to Phosphate Deficiency in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS One 8, 1–9.

Schantz, E.J., and Lauffer, M.A. (1962). Diffusion Measurements in Agar Gel. Biochemistry *1*, 658–663.

Schiefelbein, J.W., Shipley, A., and Rowse, P. (1992). Calcium influx at the tip of growing root-hair cells of Arabidopsis thaliana. Planta *187*, 455–459. Schwartz, N., Carminati, A., and Javaux, M. (2015). The impact of mucilage on root water uptake - a numerical study. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. *5*, 2–2.

Shao, Q., Gao, Q., Lhamo, D., Zhang, H., and Luan, S. (2020). Two glutamate- and pH-regulated Ca2+ channels are required for systemic wound signaling in Arabidopsis. Sci. Signal. *13*, 1–14.

Sibaoka, T. (1997). Application of Leaf Extract Causes Repatitive Action Potentials in Biophytum sensitivum. *110*, 2.

Singh, S.K., Chien, C. Te, and Chang, I.F. (2016). The Arabidopsis glutamate receptor-like gene GLR3.6 controls root development by repressing the Kip-related protein gene KRP4. J. Exp. Bot. *67*, 1853–1869. Sivaguru, M., Pike, S., Gassmann, W., and Baskin, T.I. (2003). Aluminum rapidly depolymerizes cortical microtubules and depolarizes the plasma membrane: Evidence that these responses are mediated by a glutamate receptor. Plant Cell Physiol. *44*, 667–675.

Skobeleva, O. V., Ktitorova, I.N., and Agal'tsov, K.G. (2011). The causes for barley root growth retardation in the presence of ammonium and glutamate. Russ. J. Plant Physiol. *58*, 307–315.

Sobolevsky, A.I., Rosconi, M.P., and Gouaux, E. (2009). X-ray structure, symmetry and mechanism of an AMPA-subtype glutamate receptor. Nature *462*, 745–756.

Spanjers, A, W. (1977). Voltage variation in Lilium longiflorum pistils induced by pollination. 36–37.

Spanjers, A.W. (1981). Bioelectric potential changes in the style of Lilium longiflorum Thunb. after self- and cross-pollination of the stigma. Planta *153*, 1–5.

Stahlberg, R., and Cosgrove, D.J. (1996). Induction and ionic basis of slow wave potentials in seedlings of Pisum sativum L. Planta *200*, 416–425. Stahlberg, R., and Cosgrove, D.J. (1997). The propagation of slow wave potentials in pea epicotyls. Plant Physiol. *113*, 209–217.

Stange, A., Hedrich, R., and Roelfsema, M.R.G. (2010). Ca2+-dependent activation of guard cell anion channels, triggered by hyperpolarization, is promoted by prolonged depolarization. Plant J. *62*, 265–276.

Stanković, B., Zawadzki, T., and Davies, E. (1997). Characterization of the variation potential in sunflower. Plant Physiol. *115*, 1083–1088.

Stephens, N.R., Qi, Z., and Spalding, E.P. (2008). Glutamate Receptor

Subtypes Evidenced by Differences in Desensitization and Dependence on

the GLR3.3 and GLR3.4 Genes. Plant Physiol. 146, 529–538.

Sukhov, V., Nerush, V., Orlova, L., and Vodeneev, V. (2011). Simulation of action potential propagation in plants. J. Theor. Biol. *291*, 47–55.

Sukhov, V., Akinchits, E., Katicheva, L., and Vodeneev, V. (2013).

Simulation of variation potential in higher plant cells. J. Membr. Biol. 246, 287–296.

Sukhova, E., Akinchits, E., and Sukhov, V. (2017). Mathematical Models of Electrical Activity in Plants. J. Membr. Biol. *250*, 407–423.

Szechyńska-Hebda, M., Kruk, J., Górecka, M., Karpińska, B., and

Karpiński, S. (2010). Evidence for light wavelength-specific photoelectrophysiological signaling and memory of excess light episodes in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell *22*, 2201–2218.

Szechyńska-Hebda, M., Lewandowska, M., and Karpiński, S. (2017).

Electrical signaling, photosynthesis and systemic acquired acclimation.

Front. Physiol. 8, 1–14.

Tanimoto, M., Roberts, K., Dolan, L., and § (1995). Ethylene is a positive regulator of root hair development in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J. 8, 943–948.

Teardo, E., Formentin, E., Segalla, A., Giacometti, G.M., Marin, O., Zanetti, M., Lo Schiavo, F., Zoratti, M., and Szabò, I. (2011). Dual localization of plant glutamate receptor AtGLR3.4 to plastids and plasmamembrane.

Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1807, 359–367.

Toyota, M., Spencer, D., Sawai-toyota, S., Jiaqi, W., and Zhang, T. (2018a). Glutamate triggers long-distance, calcium-based plant defense signaling. *6*, 1112–1115.

Toyota, M., Spencer, D., Sawai-Toyota, S., Jiaqi, W., Zhang, T., Koo, A.J., Howe, G.A., and Gilroy, S. (2018b). Methods. Science (80-.). *361*, 1112– 1115.

Tran, D., Dauphin, A., Meimoun, P., Kadono, T., Nguyen, H.T.H., Arbelet-

Bonnin, D., Zhao, T., Errakhi, R., Lehner, A., Kawano, T., et al. (2018). Methanol induces cytosolic calcium variations, membrane depolarization and ethylene production in arabidopsis and tobacco. Ann. Bot. *122*, 849– 860.

Traynelis, S.F., Wollmuth, L.P., McBain, C.J., Menniti, F.S., Vance, K.M., Ogden, K.K., Hansen, K.B., Yuan, H., Myers, S., and Dingledine, R. (2010). Glutamate receptor Ion Channels: Structure, Regulation, and Function. Pharmacol. Rev. 405–496.

Turano, F.J., Muhitch, M.J., Felker, F.C., and McMahon, M.B. (2002). The putative glutamate receptor 3.2 from Arabidopsis thaliana (AtGLR3.2) is an integral membrane peptide that accumulates in rapidly growing tissues and persists in vascular-associated tissues. Plant Sci. *163*, 43–51.

Umrath, K. (1930). Untersuchungen über Plasma und Plasmaströmung an Characeen. Protoplasma *9*, 576–597.

Véry, A.A., and Davies, J.M. (2000). Hyperpolarization-activated calcium channels at the tip of Arabidopsis root hairs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 9801–9806.

Véry, A.A., and Sentenac, H. (2002). Cation channels in the Arabidopsis plasma membrane. Trends Plant Sci. 7, 168–175.

Vincent, T.R., Avramova, M., Canham, J., Higgins, P., Bilkey, N., Mugford,

S.T., Pitino, M., Toyota, M., Gilroy, S., Miller, A.J., et al. (2017). Interplay of plasma membrane and vacuolar ion channels, together with BAK1, elicits rapid cytosolic calcium elevations in Arabidopsis during aphid feeding. Plant Cell *29*, 1460–1479.

Vincill, E.D., Clarin, A.E., Molenda, J.N., and Spalding, E.P. (2013). Interacting Glutamate Receptor-Like Proteins in Phloem Regulate Lateral Root Initiation in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell *25*, 1304–1313.

Vissenberg, K., Feijó, J.A., Weisenseel, M.H., and Verbelen, J.P. (2001). Ion fluxes, auxin and the induction of elongation growth in Nicotiana tabacum cells. J. Exp. Bot. *52*, 2161–2167.

Vodeneev, V., Orlova, A., Morozova, E., Orlova, L., Akinchits, E., Orlova,

O., and Sukhov, V. (2012). The mechanism of propagation of variation potentials in wheat leaves. J. Plant Physiol. *169*, 949–954.

Vodeneev, V., Akinchits, E., and Sukhov, V. (2015). Variation potential in higher plants: Mechanisms of generation and propagation. Plant Signal. Behav. *10*, 1–7.

Vodeneev, V.A., Opritov, V.A., and Pyatygin, S.S. (2006). Reversible changes of extracellular pH during action potential generation in a higher plant Cucurbita pepo. Russ. J. Plant Physiol. *53*, 481–487.

Volkov, A. (2006). Plant Electrophysiology (Springer Berlin Heidelberg).

Walch-Liu, P., Liu, L.H., Remans, T., Tester, M., and Forde, B.G. (2006). Evidence that L-glutamate can act as an exogenous signal to modulate root growth and branching in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol. *47*, 1045– 1057.

Wang, G., Hu, C., Zhou, J., Liu, Y., Cai, J., Pan, C., Wang, Y., Wu, X., Shi,
K., Xia, X., et al. (2019). Systemic Root-Shoot Signaling Drives JasmonateBased Root Defense against Nematodes. Curr. Biol. 29, 3430-3438.e4.
Wędzony, M., and Filek, M. (1998). Changes of electric potential in pistils
of Petunia hybrida Hort. and Brassica napus L. during pollination. Acta
Physiol. Plant. 20, 291–297.

Weiland, M., Mancuso, S., and Baluska, F. (2016). Signalling via glutamate and GLRs in Arabidopsis thaliana. Funct. Plant Biol. *43*, 1–25.

Wildon, D.C., Thain, J.F., Minchint, P.E.H., Gubb, I.R., Skipper, Y.D., and Doherty, H.M. (1992). Electrical signalling and systemic proteinase inhibitor induction in the wounded plant. *360*.

Wudick, M.M., Portes, M.T., Michard, E., Rosas-Santiago, P., Lizzio, M.A.,
Nunes, C.O., Campos, C., Santa Cruz Damineli, D., Carvalho, J.C., Lima,
P.T., et al. (2018a). CORNICHON sorting and regulation of GLR channels
underlie pollen tube Ca2+homeostasis. Science (80-.).

Wudick, M.M., Michard, E., Oliveira Nunes, C., and Feijó, J.A. (2018b).

Comparing plant and animal glutamate receptors: Common traits but different fates? J. Exp. Bot. *69*, 4151–4163.

Wymer, C.L., Bibikova, T.N., and Gilroy, S. (1997). Cytoplasmic free calcium distribution during the development of root hairs of Arabidopsis thaliana.

Yao, Y., Harrison, C.B., Freddolino, P.L., Schulten, K., and Mayer, M.L. (2008). Molecular mechanism of ligand recognition by NR3 subtype glutamate receptors. EMBO J. *27*, 2158–2170.

Young, J.Z. (1936). Structure of Nerve Fibres and Synapses in Some Invertebrates. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *4*, 1–6.

Zarebanadkouki, M., Fink, T., Benard, P., and Banfield, C.C. (2019).

Mucilage Facilitates Nutrient Diffusion in the Drying Rhizosphere. Vadose Zo. J. *18*, 1–13.

Zimmermann, M.R., Maischak, H., Mithöfer, A., Boland, W., and Felle,H.H. (2009). System potentials, a novel electrical long-distance apoplasticsignal in plants, induced by wounding. Plant Physiol. *149*, 1593–1600.